Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jpaa

Skew power series rings over a prime base ring

Adam Jones^a, William Woods^{b,*}

^a Alan Turing Building, University of Manchester, M13 9PL, United Kingdom
 ^b Pathways Department, University of Essex, CO4 3SQ, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 October 2022 Received in revised form 19 August 2024 Available online 10 September 2024 Communicated by S. Iyengar

 $\begin{array}{l} MSC;\\ 16S36;\ 16S99;\ 16W20;\ 16W25;\\ 16W70 \end{array}$

ABSTRACT

In this paper, we investigate the structure of skew power series rings of the form $S = R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$, where R is a complete, positively filtered ring and (σ, δ) is a skew derivation respecting the filtration. Our main focus is on the case in which $\sigma\delta = \delta\sigma$, and we aim to use techniques in non-commutative valuation theory to address the long-standing open question: if P is an invariant prime ideal of R, is PS a prime ideal of S? When R has characteristic p, our results reduce this to a finite-index problem. We also give preliminary results in the "Iwasawa algebra" case $\delta = \sigma - \mathrm{id}_R$ in arbitrary characteristic. A key step in our argument will be to show that for a large class of Noetherian algebras, the nilradical is "almost" (σ, δ) -invariant in a certain sense.

© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

0.	Introdu	action	
	0.1.	Background	
	0.2.	Results	
	0.3.	Applications	
	0.4.	Structure of the paper	
1.	Preliminaries		
	1.1.	Skew derivations and ideals	
	1.2.	Filtrations, associated graded rings, and skew derivations	
	1.3.	Microlocalisation	
	1.4.	Bounded skew power series rings	
2.	Extending prime ideals		
	2.1.	Ideals in skew power series rings	
	2.2.	Criterion for primeness	
3.	Minimal σ -prime ideals		
	3.1.	The characteristic 0 case	
	3.2.	Calculations in characteristic $p > 0$	
	3.3.	The δ -core of an ideal in characteristic $p > 0$	
4.	Constructing a filtration		
	4.1.	Localisation and completion	





JOURNAL OF PURE AND

E-mail addresses: adam.jones-5@manchester.ac.uk (A. Jones), billy.woods@essex.ac.uk (W. Woods).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpaa.2024.107800



^{*} Corresponding author.

⁰⁰²²⁻⁴⁰⁴⁹ \odot 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

4.2.	Passing to a simple quotient		
4.3.	Invariant maximal ideals		
4.4.	Proof of main results		
4.5.	Applications		
CRediT authorship contribution statement			
Declaration of competing interest			
References	References		

0. Introduction

0.1. Background

Let R be a Noetherian ring, complete with respect to a filtration topology, and let (σ, δ) be a continuous skew derivation of R. Assuming that the filtration is positive and (σ, δ) is compatible with the filtration in the appropriate sense defined below (Definition 1.8), we are able to define the *skew power series ring*:

$$R[[x;\sigma,\delta]] := \left\{ \sum_{n \ge 0} r_n x^n : r_n \in R \right\},\tag{0.0.1}$$

a complete ring whose multiplication is given by $xr = \sigma(r)x + \delta(r)$ for each $r \in R$.

We consider the question: under what conditions is $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ a prime ring? More generally, we aim to address and partially prove the following conjecture:

Conjecture 0.1. If P is a prime, (σ, δ) -invariant ideal of R, and $S := R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$, then SP is a prime ideal of S.

The case when $\delta = 0$ is already known in many cases: see [20, Proposition 2.8(ii)] and [17, 1.4.5].

Note that since SP is a two-sided ideal of S, in the notation of the conjecture, and the quotient of S by SP is a skew power series ring defined over R/P (cf. [16, Lemma 3.14]), this conjecture is equivalent to the statement that any skew power series ring over a prime ring is prime.

A related question was asked by Letzter [16, 3.19]. In the setting of [16], R is i-adically complete with respect to some ideal i, and we have $\sigma(i^n) \subseteq i^n$ and $\delta(i^n) \subseteq i^{n+1}$ for all n. Letzter asks, under the assumption that σ extends to compatible automorphisms of $R[x; \sigma, \delta]$ and $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$: is $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ a σ -prime ring?

We will primarily restrict ourselves to the case where $\delta \sigma = \sigma \delta$. This is satisfied in the cases of many natural skew power series rings of interest, including Iwasawa algebras: see Examples 4.12–4.13 below. In this setting, σ does indeed extend to compatible automorphisms of $R[x; \sigma, \delta]$ and $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ by setting $\sigma(x) = x$, so Letzter's hypotheses are satisfied.

(Some of our intermediate results, which may be of independent interest, extend easily to the setting where (σ, δ) is a *q*-skew derivation: that is, $\delta \sigma = q\sigma\delta$ for some unit $q \in R^{\times}$ satisfying $\sigma(q) = q$ and $\delta(q) = 0$. We will give the more general results where applicable.)

A positive answer to Conjecture 0.1 would be interesting for two reasons. Firstly, corresponding results in the case of skew *polynomial* rings are foundational in all developments of the theory: the similar results proved as e.g. [12, Theorem 4.2], [13, Theorem 2.2], [8, Proposition 3.3], [9, Proposition 3.3] are all used crucially in the contexts of those papers. Secondly, the corresponding result in the case of *polycyclic group algebras* is a key lemma that plays an important role in our understanding of their prime ideals: see [19, Lemma 9]. Unfortunately, their non-discrete analogues – in the world of filtered skew power series rings, and the world of completed group rings of compact *p*-adic Lie groups (i.e. *Iwasawa algebras*), respectively – are missing. We note that Bergen and Grzeszczuk have studied similar questions for *discrete* skew power series rings [3]. However, in order to ensure that their skew power series rings exist, they impose the extra hypothesis that δ should be *locally nilpotent*. In general, this will not be the case for the examples of interest to us. For instance, the \mathbb{F}_p -linear derivation δ on $R = \mathbb{F}_p[[x]]$ defined by $\delta(x) = x^{p+1}$ is *topologically* nilpotent (so that the skew power series ring $R[[y; \delta]]$ may be defined) but is not *locally* nilpotent. In the setting of Iwasawa algebras, δ is almost never locally nilpotent.

0.2. Results

Throughout the paper, fix a prime number p. Our main result, stated below, gives strong evidence for Conjecture 0.1.

In the statement of this result, and elsewhere in the paper, we will write $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ for the bounded skew power series ring over R, as defined in §1.4 below. This ring is the necessary analogue of $R[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ in the case when the filtration is not necessarily positive, and does not necessarily contain arbitrary power series with coefficients in R, but only those whose coefficients satisfy an appropriate convergence condition. However, note that if R is positively filtered then $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]] = R[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ always, which is usually the case of greatest interest to us.

Theorem A. Let R be a prime Noetherian algebra over \mathbb{Z}_p , and $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ a complete, separated Zariskian filtration, such that

- $\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ is finitely generated as a module over a central, Noetherian, graded subring A, containing $\operatorname{gr}(p)$.
- $w(p^n) = nw(p) \ge n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- The non-zero graded part $A_{\neq 0}$ contains a non-nilpotent element.

Suppose also that (σ, δ) is a skew derivation on R compatible with w and satisfying $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$.

- (a) If p = 0 in R (i.e. R is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra), then there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $R^b[[x^{p^N}; \sigma^{p^N}, \delta^{p^N}]]$ is prime.
- (b) If $\delta = \sigma id$, then there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $R^b[[x_{(N)}; \sigma_{(N)}, \delta_{(N)}]]$ is prime, where $x_{(N)} = (x+1)^{p^N} 1$, $\sigma_{(N)} = \sigma^{p^N}$ and $\delta_{(N)} = \sigma_{(N)} id$.

Remarks. We comment on the various hypotheses of this theorem.

- (i) In most cases of interest, $gr_w(R)$ is commutative, and hence $A = gr_w(R)$, but we include the more general setting since the proof is identical and we anticipate that it will be useful in the future. The hypothesis that $A_{\neq 0}$ contain a non-nilpotent element is required in §4.1 to choose the minimal prime there called **q**. All of these hypotheses are mild in our primary cases of interest, as in Examples 4.12–4.13.
- (ii) Statement (a) makes sense because if R has characteristic p and $\sigma\delta = \delta\sigma$ then $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ is a skew derivation, compatible with w, for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. The characteristic 0 case appears to require different treatment, so in statement (b) (which holds in characteristic p and characteristic 0) we restrict to the case $\delta = \sigma$ id, as it is the case of interest for Iwasawa algebras (see Example 4.13). Note that, if char(R) = p and $\delta = \sigma$ id, then statements (a) and (b) are equivalent.

Of course, if we could take N = 0 then Conjecture 0.1 would follow immediately, at least in positive characteristic. In characteristic 0, unfortunately, some issues arise in the case where $\delta \neq \sigma$ – id which may prove difficult to resolve.

In the case where $\delta = \sigma - id$, however, we can deduce an immediate corollary to Theorem A by realising $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ as a crossed product of the appropriate sub-skew power series ring with $\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}$. Explicitly:

$$R^{b}[[x;\sigma,\sigma-\mathrm{id}]] = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p^{N}-1} \left(R^{b}[[x_{(N)};\sigma_{(N)},\delta_{(N)}]] \right) (x+1)^{i}.$$

(See Example 4.13 below for an example of this.) Now we may apply [18, Theorem 4.4, Proposition 16.4] to get:

Corollary 0.2. Let R be a prime, Noetherian algebra over \mathbb{Z}_p satisfying the hypotheses of Theorem A, and suppose that $\delta = \sigma$ – id. Then:

- If char(R) = p, then $R^{b}[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ has prime nilradical.
- If char(R) = 0, then $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is semiprime. \Box

In fact, in the case where $\operatorname{char}(R) = 0$ in the above corollary, we should in fact be able to prove that $R^b[[x; \sigma, \sigma - \operatorname{id}]]$ is in fact prime, but we hope to include this proof in a later article which develops on the ideas in this paper further.

The proof of Theorem A uses non-commutative valuation theory. Roughly speaking, we show that the skew power series ring is prime by showing that it carries a complete filtration f, with a prime associated graded ring, from which the result follows. The filtration $f = f_u$ depends on a filtration u on R, and the appropriate choice of u is given by our main technical result:

Theorem B. Let R be a prime Noetherian algebra over \mathbb{Z}_p , and $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ a complete, separated Zariskian filtration satisfying the same hypotheses of Theorem A. Suppose also that (σ, δ) is a skew derivation on R compatible with w and satisfying $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$.

Then (σ, δ) extends to the Goldie ring of quotients Q(R), and there exists a separated filtration u on Q(R) such that the embedding $(R, w) \to (Q(R), u)$ is continuous, $\operatorname{gr}_u(Q(R))$ is prime and Noetherian, and:

- (a) If char(R) = p, then there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(\sigma^{p^N}, \delta^{p^N})$ is compatible with u.
- (b) If $\delta = \sigma id$, then there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(\sigma^{p^N}, \sigma^{p^N} id)$ is compatible with u.

The key difficulty in the proof of Theorem B is the construction of the filtration u. Roughly speaking, we follow the construction of [1, Theorem C], which uses techniques in non-commutative algebra to construct well behaved filtrations on various ring extensions of Q(R). Our major addition to the argument is the involvement of the skew derivation.

We will occasionally need to consider skew derivations (σ, δ) on rings R that are artinian but not semisimple. In these cases, we hope to be able to pass to R/N(R), where N(R) is the (prime) radical of R, in order to use the well-established theory of semisimple artinian rings. However, while N(R) is preserved by σ , it will not necessarily be preserved by δ even in the nicest cases, as the following counterexample (in which σ is the identity automorphism) shows:

Example 0.3. [4, Introduction] Let $R = \mathbb{F}_p[X]/(X^p)$, so that N(R) = (X). Then there exists an \mathbb{F}_p -linear derivation δ such that $\delta(X) = 1 \notin N(R)$.

Our final technical result, however, shows that the situation is not hopeless:

Theorem C. Let R be a Noetherian algebra over a field, (σ, δ) a skew derivation on R with $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$, and I a minimal σ -prime ideal of R.

- (a) If R is artinian, and char(R) = 0, then $\delta(I) \subseteq I$.
- (b) If $\operatorname{char}(R) = p > 0$, then there exist $J \supseteq I$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

- (i) J is a minimal σ^{p^M} -prime ideal of R,
- (ii) $I = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma^n(J)$, and this intersection is finite,
- (iii) $\delta^{p^M}(J) \subseteq J.$

This is enough to imply that N(R) is a (σ, δ) -ideal in case (a), and N(R) is a $(\sigma^{p^M}, \delta^{p^M})$ -ideal for some M in case (b).

0.3. Applications

There are many examples of classes of rings whose prime quotients satisfy the hypotheses of our Theorem A, and which are independently of great interest. We hope that this will ensure the broad applicability of our results. The examples mentioned below are discussed in detail in §4.5:

- 1. many iterated local skew power series rings,
- 2. completed group algebras (Iwasawa algebras) of uniform pro-p groups.

0.4. Structure of the paper

After introducing some preliminary definitions and results in §1, we will show in §2 that, in the case where Q(R) carries a suitable filtration u satisfying certain compatibility relations with (σ, δ) , and such that $gr_u(Q(R))$ is itself a prime ring, we can deduce that the skew power series ring $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is prime. This demonstrates how we will deduce Theorem A from Theorem B. In §3, we will take an interlude and describe invariant ideals under skew derivations, in both characteristic 0 and positive characteristic, which require very different treatment. We will conclude §3 by proving Theorem C. Finally, in §4 we will prove Theorem B, and we will conclude §4.4 with a proof of Theorem A. Detailed calculations of our example applications follow in §4.5.

In a subsequent work, we hope to build on these ideas further, with a view to proving that $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is prime in more general cases, such as the cases in which σ and δ commute or *q*-commute. We do hope that the techniques employed in this paper can be developed, and we have observed that with a small refinement of them it should be possible to prove that $R^b[[x;\sigma,\sigma-id]]$ is prime in characteristic 0, but in general we believe that new methods are needed.

Acknowledgements: The authors are grateful to Konstantin Ardakov for his very thorough and helpful comments on an early draft of this paper, and to the anonymous referee at the Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra for several constructive suggestions. They would also like to thank the Heilbronn Institute for Mathematical Research for supporting and partially funding this work.

1. Preliminaries

1.1. Skew derivations and ideals

Let R be a Noetherian ring. A skew derivation on R is a pair (σ, δ) , where σ is an automorphism of R and δ is a left σ -derivation of R, by which we mean that $\delta(ab) = \delta(a)b + \sigma(a)\delta(b)$ for all $a, b \in R$.

It is not currently possible to deal with all skew derivations in full generality, so we focus on the important special case where σ and δ commute. The following formula can then be obtained by induction on n.

Lemma 1.1. Suppose that $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$. Given $a, b \in R, n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\delta^{n}(ab) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \delta^{k} \sigma^{n-k}(a) \delta^{n-k}(b). \quad \Box$$

(As will be standard throughout this paper, for ease of notation, we will often write function composition as concatenation: $\delta^k \sigma^{n-k} := \delta^k \circ \sigma^{n-k}$.)

Remark 1.2.

- (i) If R has characteristic p, and (σ, δ) is a skew derivation on R satisfying $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$, then for any m, we have that $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ is a skew derivation on R. This follows immediately from Lemma 1.1, noting that the binomial coefficients $\binom{p^m}{i} \equiv 0 \pmod{p}$ for $1 \leq i \leq p^m 1$.
- (ii) Regardless of the characteristic of R, if we are in the special case $\delta = \sigma id$, then for any n, we have that $(\sigma^n, \sigma^n id)$ is a skew derivation on R.

We remind the reader of the following standard definitions.

Definition 1.3.

- (i) An ideal I of R is called a σ -ideal if $\sigma(I) \subseteq I$. We may also say that such an ideal is preserved by σ . We define similarly a δ -ideal (i.e. $\delta(I) \subseteq I$) and a (σ, δ) -ideal (i.e. both $\sigma(I) \subseteq I$ and $\delta(I) \subseteq I$).
- (ii) A σ -ideal I of R is σ -prime if, whenever any two σ -ideals A and B satisfy $AB \subseteq I$, we must have either $A \subseteq I$ or $B \subseteq I$. (We similarly define δ -prime and (σ, δ) -prime.)

Remarks 1.4.

- (i) As R is Noetherian, an ideal I is σ -prime if and only if $I = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma^n(P)$ for some prime ideal P, and in fact this σ -orbit is finite [7, Remarks 4^{*} and 5^{*}].
- (ii) The claim that a proper σ -ideal I is σ -prime is equivalent to the following condition: let $a, b \in R$, and suppose that $\sigma^n(a)Rb \subseteq I$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$; then we must have either $a \in I$ or $b \in I$. This is proved in [8, Lemma 2.1(a)].

1.2. Filtrations, associated graded rings, and skew derivations

If R is an arbitrary (even Noetherian) ring admitting a skew derivation (σ, δ) , it is *not* generally the case that we can define the skew power series ring $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ without some extra hypotheses, due to convergence issues. We will usually be interested in the case when R is a *complete filtered* ring. This is similar to the "i-adic" case studied in [16], but in some sense very different from the "locally nilpotent" case studied in [4].

The following definitions are all well known, but will set up our notational conventions for the paper. Our standard reference for filtered and graded rings is [11].

Definition 1.5. A *(ring) filtration* on R is a function $u : R \to \Gamma \cup \{\infty\}$, where Γ is a totally ordered abelian group, satisfying the following properties:

- (a) $u(0) = \infty$,
- (b) $u(x+y) \ge \min\{u(x), u(y)\}$ for all $x, y \in R$,
- (c) $u(xy) \ge u(x) + u(y)$ for all $x, y \in R$.

In the usual way, we can associate to u a collection $\{F^{\lambda}R\}_{\lambda\in\Gamma}$ of additive subgroups of R by defining $F^{\lambda}R = u^{-1}([\lambda,\infty])$. It will sometimes be useful to use the term *filtration* to refer to this collection $\{F^{\lambda}R\}_{\lambda\in\Gamma}$,

rather than the function u, and we will call $F^{\lambda}R$ the λ th *level set* of the filtration u. Conversely, given the level sets $\{F^{\lambda}R\}$ of a filtration u, we can recover u by setting $u(x) = \min\{\lambda : x \in F^{\lambda}R\}$ for $x \neq 0$.

We also adopt the following conventions throughout this paper:

- (a) Filtrations are always *separated*: $u(x) = \infty \Leftrightarrow x = 0$.
- (b) Γ will always be a discrete ordered group of rank 1, and as such we will often identify it with \mathbb{Z} (or $e\mathbb{Z}$ for some e > 0 where necessary).
- (c) Our filtrations are written as *descending* filtrations, i.e. if $m, n \in \Gamma$ with $m \leq n$, then $F^m R \supseteq F^n R$. (Notice that [11] uses the opposite convention.)

Definition 1.6. Suppose $u : R \to \Gamma \cup \{\infty\}$ is a filtration on R. Write $F^{\lambda}R = u^{-1}([\lambda, \infty])$ and $F^{\lambda^+}R = u^{-1}((\lambda, \infty])$. Then the associated graded ring (denoted $\operatorname{gr}_u(R)$, or sometimes just $\operatorname{gr}(R)$ where the filtration u is clear) is defined as

$$\operatorname{gr}_{u}(R) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Gamma} (F^{\lambda}R/F^{\lambda^{+}}R).$$

Notation 1.7. For any $x \in R \setminus \{0\}$, we will write $gr_u(x)$ (or just gr(x)) to denote the element $x + F^{u(x)^+}R \in gr_u(R)$. This is sometimes called the *principal symbol* of x in $gr_u(R)$.

If (R, u) is a filtered ring, and d is a filtered endomorphism of R, we define the *degree* of d to be the element $\deg_u(d) := \inf\{u(d(x)) - u(x) : x \in R\} \in \Gamma$ (or $\deg_u(d) = -\infty$ if this infimum does not exist, but this will not happen in this paper).

The following definition will underpin most of the work of this paper.

Definition 1.8. Suppose $u: R \to \Gamma \cup \{\infty\}$ is a filtration on R, and (σ, δ) is a skew derivation on R. We say that (σ, δ) is *compatible* with u if $\deg_u(\sigma - id) > 0$ and $\deg_u(\delta) > 0$. (Note that this implies that σ and δ are filtered maps, and hence continuous with respect to the filtration topology on R.)

In other words: identify $\Gamma \cong e\mathbb{Z}$ for some e > 0. Then (σ, δ) is compatible with u if, for all $\lambda \in \Gamma$ and all $x \in R$ with $u(x) = \lambda$, we have

- $u(\sigma(x) x) \ge \lambda + e$ and
- $u(\delta(x)) \ge \lambda + e.$

The importance of this definition will become clear in the next subsection. For now, we note simply that this implies $gr_u(x) = gr_u(\sigma(x))$ for all $x \in R$.

Remark. This (relatively strong) notion of compatibility is useful for our purposes, but we note here that other (weaker) forms of compatibility are very common in the literature. For instance, it is common to insist simply that $\deg_u(\sigma) = 0$, rather than $\deg_u(\sigma - id) > 0$.

Lemma 1.9. Let (R, u) be a filtered \mathbb{Z}_p -algebra and $(\sigma, \sigma - \mathrm{id})$ a skew derivation on R compatible with u. Suppose $u(p) \ge 1$ and $\deg_u(\sigma - \mathrm{id}) \ge 1$. Then $\deg_u(\sigma^{p^n} - \mathrm{id}) \ge n$.

Proof. Rewriting σ as $(\sigma - id) + id$ and expanding using the binomial theorem:

$$\sigma^{p^n} - \mathrm{id} = ((\sigma - \mathrm{id}) + \mathrm{id})^{p^n} - \mathrm{id}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{p^n} {p^n \choose i} (\sigma - \mathrm{id})^i.$$

By assumption, $\deg_u(\sigma - \mathrm{id}) \ge 1$, so $\deg_u((\sigma - \mathrm{id})^i) \ge i$. Hence it remains to show that $u\left(\binom{p^n}{i}\right) \ge n - i$. Writing v_p for the *p*-adic valuation on \mathbb{Z}_p , we have $v_p(p^n - k) = v_p(k)$ for all $1 \le k \le p^n - 1$; and, as

$$i!\binom{p^n}{i} = p^n \prod_{k=1}^{i-1} (p^n - k).$$

we may take v_p of both sides to see that $v_p(i!) + v_p\left(\binom{p^n}{i}\right) = n + v_p((i-1)!)$. From here we may conclude that $u\left(\binom{p^n}{i}\right) \ge v_p\left(\binom{p^n}{i}\right) = n - v_p(i) \ge n - i$ as required. \Box

We will also need the following fact:

Lemma 1.10. Let A be a ring admitting a filtration u, and let (σ, δ) be a skew derivation on A compatible with u. Let \widehat{A} be the completion of A with respect to u, and \widehat{u} the induced filtration. Then there is a unique extension of (σ, δ) to a skew derivation $(\widehat{\sigma}, \widehat{\delta})$ on \widehat{A} which is compatible with \widehat{u} .

Proof. Identify $\Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}$. The existence of maps (of filtered abelian groups) $\hat{\sigma}$ and $\hat{\delta}$, and the claims that $\deg_{\hat{u}}(\hat{\sigma} - \mathrm{id}) \geq 1$ and $\deg_{\hat{u}}(\hat{\delta}) \geq 1$, follow from [11, Chapter I, Theorem 3.4.5]. $\hat{\sigma}$ is an automorphism of \hat{A} by [11, Chapter I, Corollary 3.4.8], and $\hat{\delta}$ is a $\hat{\sigma}$ -derivation by an application of [11, Chapter I, Theorem 3.4.7]. \Box

1.3. Microlocalisation

Let R be a ring carrying a separated filtration $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$, with associated level sets $\{F^n R\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$. Define the *Rees ring* \tilde{R} to be the graded ring given by

$$\tilde{R} := \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} F^n R \cdot t^{-n},$$

where $(at^{-n}) \cdot (bt^{-m}) := abt^{-(n+m)}$. Note that $t = 1 \cdot t^1 \in \tilde{R}$ is central, and despite the notation, t is not actually a unit in \tilde{R} .

Recall from [11, Definition 2.1.1] that w is a Zariskian filtration if the Rees ring \tilde{R} is Noetherian, and the Jacobson radical of the ring F^0R contains the ideal F^1R . In the case where R is complete with respect to w, it follows from [11, Theorem 2.1.2] that w is Zariskian if and only if the associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_w R$ is Noetherian, so throughout this paper our filtrations are usually Zariskian.

So, suppose w is a Zariskian filtration. Following the approach in [10], we will show in this section how we can lift a homogeneous localisation of the associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_w R$ to an Ore localisation of R, in a process known as *microlocalisation*.

Firstly, we will explore how to realise both the ring R and its associated graded ring as quotients of the Rees ring:

Lemma 1.11. There exists a surjective ring homomorphism $\rho_1 : \tilde{R} \to R$ defined by $rt^{-n} \mapsto r$ with kernel $(t-1)\tilde{R}$, and a surjective homomorphism of graded rings $\rho_2 : \tilde{R} \to \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ defined by $rt^{-n} \mapsto r + F^{n+1}R$ with kernel $t\tilde{R}$.

Proof. It is clear that ρ_1 and ρ_2 are well defined, surjective ring homomorphisms, so it remains to calculate their kernels.

Clearly $(t-1)\tilde{R}$ is contained in $\ker(\rho_1)$, since $\rho_1(t) = 1 = \rho_1(1)$. On the other hand, if $\rho_1\left(\sum_{n=-N}^M r_n t^{-n}\right) = 0$ for a given set of elements $r_n \in F^n R$ with $r_{-N}, r_M \neq 0$, then $\sum_{n=-N}^M r_n = 0$, and so since $r_{-N} = -\sum_{n=-N+1}^M r_n \in F^{-N+1}R$, we see that $r_{-N}t^N \equiv r_{-N}t^{N-1} \pmod{(t-1)\tilde{R}}$.

 $-\sum_{n=-N+1}^{M} r_n \in F^{-M+1}R, \text{ we see that } r_{-N}t^{N-1} \equiv r_{-N}t^{N-1} \pmod{(t-1)R}.$ Therefore, $\sum_{n=-N}^{M} r_n t^{-n} \equiv (r_{-N} + r_{-N+1})t^{N-1} + \sum_{n=-N+2}^{M} r_n t^{-n} \pmod{(t-1)\tilde{R}}, \text{ so by induction on } -N$ we may assume that $\sum_{n=-N}^{M} r_n t^{-n} \equiv st^{-M} \pmod{(t-1)\tilde{R}} \text{ for some } s \in F^M R.$ Thus $s = \rho_1(st^{-M}) = 0, \text{ and}$

 $\sum_{n=-N}^{M} r_n t^{-n} \in (t-1)\tilde{R} \text{ as required.}$

Since ρ_2 is graded, it remains to check that $\rho_2(rt^{-n}) = 0$ for $r \in F^n R$ if and only if $rt^{-n} \in t\tilde{R}$. But $\rho_2(rt^{-n}) = r + F^{n+1}R$ is zero if and only if $r \in F^{n+1}R$, i.e. if and only if $rt^{-n} = (rt^{-(n+1)})t \in t\tilde{R}$ as required. \Box

Now, let T be a multiplicatively closed, homogeneous, left Ore-localisable subset of $\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$, let $T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ be the corresponding localisation, and let $\alpha : \operatorname{gr}_w(R) \to T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ be the natural map, so that every element of $T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ can be written as $\alpha(X)^{-1}\alpha(A)$ for some $A \in \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$, $X \in T$.

Let S be the saturated lift $S := \{r \in R : gr(r) \in T\}$ of T to R, and let \tilde{S} be the saturated lift $\tilde{S} := \{s \in \tilde{R} : s \text{ homogeneous}, \rho_2(s) \in T\}$ of T to \tilde{R} . It follows immediately that $\rho_1(\tilde{S}) = S$.

Lemma 1.12. S and \tilde{S} are left Ore-localisable subsets of R and \tilde{R} respectively.

Proof. This follows from [10, Lemma 2.1]. \Box

Therefore, we can define the localisations $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ and $S^{-1}R$, and let $\tau: R \to S^{-1}R$ and $\tilde{\tau}: \tilde{R} \to \tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ be the natural maps, so that every element of $S^{-1}R$ has the form $\tau(s)^{-1}\tau(r)$ for some $r \in R$, $s \in S$, and similarly for $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$. Also, $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ is a graded ring, where

 $(\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_n := \{\tilde{\tau}(s)^{-1}\tilde{\tau}(r) : r \in \tilde{R}, s \in \tilde{S}, r \text{ homogeneous, } \deg(r) - \deg(s) = n\}.$

Here, deg means the degree within the graded ring \tilde{R} , e.g. deg(t) = -1.

From now on, we will assume that τ is an injection, i.e. that $sr \neq 0$ for all $s \in S$, $r \in R \setminus \{0\}$. This is always true in the case where R is a prime ring.

In this case, $S^{-1}R$ is a ring extension of R, so we may identify R with its image under τ and simply write $\tau(r)$ as r. Moreover, since \tilde{S} is homogeneous, it follows that if $\tilde{s}\tilde{r} = 0$ for some $\tilde{s} \in \tilde{S}$, $\tilde{r} \in \tilde{R}$, then $\tilde{s} = st^{-n}$ for some $s \in S$. But it follows from the proof of [1, Lemma 3.3] that S consists of regular elements: therefore, $sr \neq 0$ whenever $r \neq 0$, and so we see that $\tilde{r} = 0$. Hence $\tilde{\tau}$ is also an injection, and we may consider $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ a ring extension of \tilde{R} .

However, we cannot assume that the natural graded map $\alpha : \operatorname{gr}_w(R) \to T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ is an injection: in fact in general it will not be, even when R is prime.

Proposition 1.13. The maps ρ_1, ρ_2 extend to ring homomorphisms on $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$, namely $\rho_1 : \tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R} \to S^{-1}R$ and $\rho_2 : \tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R} \to T^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$, with kernels $(t-1)\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ and $t\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ respectively, and ρ_2 is graded. **Proof.** Define $\rho_1: \tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R} \to S^{-1}R$ by $\rho_1(\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r}) = \rho_1(\tilde{s})^{-1}\rho_1(\tilde{r})$. We show first that this is well defined. Note that $\rho_1(\tilde{S}) = S$, so it makes sense to take the inverse of $\rho_1(\tilde{s})$; and if $\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r} = \tilde{s}'^{-1}\tilde{r}'$, then we may find $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{R}, \tilde{v} \in \tilde{S}$ such that $\tilde{u}\tilde{r} = \tilde{v}\tilde{r}'$ and $\tilde{v}^{-1}\tilde{u} = \tilde{s}'\tilde{s}^{-1}$. This gives $\rho_1(\tilde{u})\rho_1(\tilde{r}) = \rho_1(\tilde{v})\rho_1(\tilde{r}')$, which we may rearrange to see that $\rho_1(\tilde{s})^{-1}\rho_1(\tilde{r}) = \rho_1(\tilde{s}')^{-1}\rho_1(\tilde{r}')$. A similar proof shows that $\rho_2: \tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R} \to T^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_w(R), \tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r} \mapsto \alpha(\rho_2(\tilde{s}))^{-1}\alpha(\rho_2(\tilde{r}))$ is well defined.

It is readily checked that ρ_1, ρ_2 are ring homomorphisms, and surjectivity is obvious.

Again, it is clear that $(t-1)\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ is contained in the kernel of ρ_1 , and if $\rho_1(\tilde{s})^{-1}\rho_1(\tilde{r}) = 0$ then $\rho_1(\tilde{r}) = 0$, so $\tilde{r} \in (t-1)\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ by Lemma 1.11, and hence $\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r} \in (t-1)\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$. The same argument shows that the kernel of ρ_2 is $t\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$, so it remains to prove that ρ_2 is graded.

Given $\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r}$ with \tilde{r} homogeneous and $\deg(\tilde{r}) - \deg(\tilde{s}) = n$, we know that $\rho_2(\tilde{r}) = 0$ or $\deg(\rho_2(\tilde{r})) - \deg(\rho_2(\tilde{s})) = n$ in $\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$. But the natural localisation map $\alpha : \operatorname{gr}_w(R) \to T^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ is graded, so if $X \in \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ is homogeneous of degree d then either $X \in \ker(\alpha)$ and $\alpha(X) = 0$, or else $\alpha(X)$ has degree d in $T^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$.

In particular, if $\rho_2(\tilde{r})$ lies in the kernel of α then $\rho_2(\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r}) = 0$, otherwise $\deg(\alpha(\rho_2(\tilde{r}))) = \deg(\rho_2(\tilde{r}))$. Furthermore, since $\rho_2(\tilde{s}) \in T$, it does not lie in the kernel of α , so $\deg(\alpha(\rho_2(\tilde{s}))) = \deg(\rho_2(\tilde{s}))$, and hence we can deduce that $\deg(\alpha(\rho_2(\tilde{r}))) - \deg(\alpha(\rho_2(\tilde{s}))) = n$ in $T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$, hence this extension of ρ_2 is graded. \Box

Using this proposition, we define a new filtration w' on $S^{-1}R$ whose *n*th level set is given by $F^n S^{-1}R := \rho_1((\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_n)$.

Proposition 1.14. The map $w': S^{-1}R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ is a filtration with Rees ring $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ and associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{w'}(S^{-1}R) = T^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_{w}(R)$. Moreover, w' satisfies:

- For all $x \in S^{-1}R$, $w'(x) = \max\{w(r) w(s) : r \in R, s \in S, x = s^{-1}r\}$.
- For all $r \in R$, $w'(r) \ge w(r)$, with equality if $r \in S$.
- For all $r \in R$, $s \in S$, $w'(s^{-1}r) = w'(r) w(s)$.

Proof. To prove that w' is a filtration, we need only prove that the level sets $F^n S^{-1}R$ satisfy $F^{n+1}S^{-1}R \subseteq F^n S^{-1}R$ and $F^n S^{-1}R \cdot F^m S^{-1}R \subseteq F^{n+m}S^{-1}R$ for all $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$.

The second property is clear since $F^n S^{-1} R = \rho_1((\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_n)$, we have that $(\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_n \cdot (\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_m \subseteq (\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_{n+m}$, and ρ_1 is a ring homomorphism. For the first, note that if $x \in F^{n+1}S^{-1}R$ then $x = \rho_1(\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r})$ for some $\tilde{r} \in \tilde{R}$ homogeneous, $\tilde{s} \in \tilde{S}$ with $\deg(\tilde{r}) - \deg(\tilde{s}) = n+1$, and since t-1 lies in the kernel of ρ_1 , it follows that $x = \rho_1(\tilde{s}^{-1}t\tilde{r})$, and $\deg(t\tilde{r}) - \deg(\tilde{s}) = \deg(\tilde{r}) - \deg(\tilde{s}) - 1 = n$. Thus $x \in F^nS^{-1}R$ and hence $F^{n+1}S^{-1}R \subseteq F^nS^{-1}R$.

Let $\widetilde{S^{-1}R} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (F^n S^{-1}R) \overline{t}^{-n}$ be the Rees ring, and define a map $\widetilde{S^{-1}R} \to \widetilde{S}^{-1}\widetilde{R}$ by

$$(s^{-1}r)\overline{t}^{-n}\mapsto (st^{-a})^{-1}(rt^{-b})$$

when w'(s) = a, w'(r) = b and b - a = n. This is a well defined ring isomorphism.

Similarly, we can define a map $\operatorname{gr}_{w'}(S^{-1}R) \to T^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ by

$$s^{-1}r + F^{n+1}S^{-1}R \mapsto \alpha(s + F^{a+1}R)^{-1}\alpha(r + F^{b+1}R),$$

which is an isomorphism of graded rings.

Now, given $x \in S^{-1}R$, we see that

$$w'(x) = \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : x \in F^n S^{-1} R\} = \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : x \in \rho_1((\tilde{S}^{-1} \tilde{R})_n)\}.$$

Suppose $x = \rho_1(\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r})$, where $\tilde{s} \in \tilde{S}$ has degree a and $\tilde{r} \in \tilde{R}$ has degree b. Then $\tilde{s} = st^{-a}$ for some $s \in S$ with w(s) = a (by definition of \tilde{S}) and $\tilde{r} = rt^{-b}$ for some $r \in R$ with $w(r) \ge b$, so that $\tilde{s}^{-1}\tilde{r} \in (\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_n$ is homogeneous of degree n = b - a, and $x = s^{-1}r \in F^nS^{-1}R$. Taking the maximum over all such representations of x,

$$w'(x) = \max\{b - a \in \mathbb{Z} : x = s^{-1}r, w(s) = a, w(r) \ge b\}.$$

Clearly b - a is only maximal if b is maximal, in which case w(r) = b, and we have

$$w'(x) = \max\{w(r) - w(s) : x = s^{-1}r\}$$

as required.

Now, if $r \in R$ and w(r) = n then $r = \rho_1(rt^{-n}) \in \rho_1(\tilde{R}_n)$, so $r \in \rho_1((\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R})_n)$ and hence $w'(r) \ge n = w(r)$. Moreover, if w'(r) > w(r) then under the natural map α , $r + F^{n+1}R$ is sent to $r + F^{n+1}S^{-1}R = 0$, i.e. $r + F^n R$ lies in the kernel of α . So by standard properties of the localisation, there exists $a \in T$ such that $a(r + F^{n+1}R) = 0$, i.e. there exists $s \in S$ such that $sr \in F^{n+w(s)+1}R$, and hence w(rs) > w(r) + w(s).

In particular, if $r \in S$ then this means that $b := r + F^{n+1}R \in T$, and it follows that ab = 0 with $a, b \in T$, and hence $0 \in T$ - contradiction. Therefore if $r \in S$, w'(r) = w(r).

Finally, if $s \in S$ with w(s) = n then $s + F^{n+1}S^{-1}R$ is a unit in $\operatorname{gr}_{w'}(S^{-1}R)$, and hence we see that w'(sr) = w'(s) + w'(r) for all $r \in R$. It follows that $w'(s^{-1}r) = w'(r) - w'(s)$ for all $r \in R$ as required. \Box

Note: It is proved in [10] that w' is in fact a Zariskian filtration on $S^{-1}R$.

Now, suppose that R carries a skew derivation (σ, δ) such that (σ, δ) is compatible with the initial filtration w. We will prove that (σ, δ) extends to a skew derivation of $S^{-1}R$, and that the extension is compatible with w'.

Firstly, it is standard that any automorphism σ and any σ -derivation δ extend uniquely to a localisation, by defining $\sigma(s^{-1}r) = \sigma(s)^{-1}\sigma(r)$, and $\delta(s^{-1}r) = \sigma(s)^{-1}(\delta(r) - \delta(s)s^{-1}r)$, so it remains to prove that the extension is compatible.

We can also extend σ and δ to the Rees ring \hat{R} by:

$$\tilde{\sigma}\left(\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}r_nt^{-n}\right) = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\sigma(r_n)t^{-n}, \,\tilde{\delta}\left(\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}r_nt^{-n}\right) = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\delta(r_n)t^{-n}$$

Lemma 1.15. The pair $(\tilde{\sigma}, \tilde{\delta})$ is a graded skew derivation of \tilde{R} such that $\sigma(t) = t$ and $\tilde{\delta}(t) = 0$. In particular, the extensions of $\tilde{\sigma}$ and $\tilde{\delta}$ to $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ are graded, and they preserve the ideals generated by t and t-1.

Proof. This follows from the fact that (σ, δ) is compatible with w. \Box

Theorem 1.16. The natural extension of (σ, δ) to $S^{-1}R$ is compatible with w'.

Proof. By Lemma 1.15, $(\tilde{\sigma}', \tilde{\delta}')$ is a skew derivation of $\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$ which preserves the ideals generated by t and t-1, so it follows from Proposition 1.13 and Proposition 1.14 that it induces a skew derivation (σ', δ') of $S^{-1}R$, and this will coincide with the extension of (σ, δ) to $S^{-1}R$.

To prove compatibility, note that if we let d be either δ or σ – id, then w(d(r)) > w(r) for all $r \in R$ by compatibility, from which it follows that $\tilde{d}(rt^{-n}) = d(r)t^{-n} = t(d(r)t^{-(n+1)}) \in t\tilde{R}$. Thus $d(\tilde{R}) \subseteq t\tilde{R}$, and hence $\tilde{d}'(\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}) \subseteq t\tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}$, and thus the induced map d' is zero on the associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{w'} S^{-1}R = \tilde{S}^{-1}\tilde{R}/(t)$. Therefore (σ', δ') is compatible with w'. \Box

1.4. Bounded skew power series rings

Suppose we are given a skew derivation (σ, δ) on a ring R. The skew polynomial ring $R[x; \sigma, \delta]$ is defined to be equal to R[x] as a left R-module, with the (unique) ring structure determined by extending its left R-module multiplication to a ring multiplication map $R[x] \times R[x] \to R[x]$ by the rule

$$xa = \sigma(a)x + \delta(a) \tag{1.4.1}$$

for all $a \in R$.

We would like to form the *skew power series ring* in the same way, beginning with the left *R*-module R[[x]]and providing it with a unique ring structure by extending the rule (1.4.1) to a (continuous) multiplication extending the left *R*-module structure. If this ring structure does indeed exist, we call the ring a *skew power series ring*, and denote it $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$. However, in general, this ring structure may fail to exist due to convergence issues. To fix this, we will need some extra hypotheses on R, σ and δ :

Proposition 1.17. Suppose that $u : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ is a separated filtration on R, that R is complete with respect to u, and that (σ, δ) is a skew derivation on R compatible with u.

(i) The left *R*-module

$$R^{b}[[x;\sigma,\delta]] = R^{b}_{u}[[x;\sigma,\delta]] = \left\{ \sum_{n \ge 0} r_{n} x^{n} : r_{n} \in R, \ u(r_{n}) + \frac{1}{2}n \to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty \right\}$$

is in fact a ring, with multiplication given by extending the rule (1.4.1) to a continuous *R*-linear multiplication in a unique way. Unless the filtration on *R* is not apparent, we will usually write this as $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$.

(ii) Define the function $f_u : R_u^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]] \to \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ as follows: for all choices of $r_i \in R$, set

$$f_u\left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} r_i x^i\right) = \inf_{i \ge 0} \left\{ u(r_i) + \frac{1}{2}i \right\}.$$

Writing $r \in R$ as the "constant" series $r + 0x + 0x^2 + \cdots \in R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$, we may identify R with a subring of $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$. Then f_u is a ring filtration with $f_u|_R = u$, $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is complete with respect to f_u , and the identity automorphism on $\operatorname{gr}_u(R)$ extends to an isomorphism of graded rings $\operatorname{gr}_{f_u}(R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]) \to (\operatorname{gr}_u(R))[Z]$ mapping x to Z.

Proof. Part (i) follows exactly as in [16, §3.4], replacing i^n with $F^n R$, the *n*th level set of the filtration *u*. Part (ii) then follows as in [22, Lemma 1.13, Remark 1.14], except for the claim that $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is complete. To show this, take a sequence of elements $s^{(j)} = \sum_{i\geq 0} r_i^{(j)} x^i \in R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ such that $f_u(s^{(j)}) \to \infty$ as $j \to \infty$. Then, as $j \to \infty$, by definition we have $\inf_{i\geq 0} \{u(r_i^{(j)}) + \frac{1}{2}i\} \to \infty$, from which we may conclude that $u(r_i^{(j)}) + \frac{1}{2}i \to \infty$ for each *i*, and hence $u(r_i^{(j)}) \to \infty$ for each *i*. But as *R* is complete with respect to $f_u|_R = u$, we are done. \Box

We call $R^{b}[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ a bounded skew power series ring. Note that if R is positively filtered, i.e. $u(r) \geq 0$ for all $r \in R$, then the requirement that $u(r_n) + \frac{1}{2}n \to \infty$ becomes vacuous. In this case, we just call the resulting ring the skew power series ring, denoted by $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$, and it contains all power series in R.

Corollary 1.18. If $u : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ is a complete, separated filtration and $\operatorname{gr}_u(R)$ is Noetherian, then $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is Noetherian.

Proof. Using Proposition 1.17, we see that $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is complete, and $\operatorname{gr}_{f_u}(R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]) \cong (\operatorname{gr}_u(R))[Z]$, which is clearly a Noetherian ring. Therefore, it follows from [11, Ch. I Lemma 7.1.2] that $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is Noetherian. \Box

Remarks 1.19.

- (i) We could replace $\frac{1}{2}$ with any $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ in Proposition 1.17, and it would make no difference to the proof or anything that follows. However, since varying the choice of ε would yield a different $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ (as a set), we consider it neater to work with a fixed choice throughout.
- (ii) If T is any positively filtered, (σ, δ) -invariant subring of R, then $T[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is a subring of $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$.
- (iii) It is worth mentioning that the bounded skew power series ring is often far too large for many purposes. For instance, if G is a compact p-adic Lie group, the appropriate notion of its Iwasawa algebra over \mathbb{Q}_p is usually taken to be $\mathbb{Q}_p G := (\mathbb{Z}_p G)[\frac{1}{p}]$, an *incomplete* ring. However, if a complete filtered ring is prime, then any dense subring is also prime, so our results for bounded skew power series rings can also provide information about these incomplete subrings.

2. Extending prime ideals

In this section, we will explore how to prove under certain conditions that the bounded skew power series ring $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is prime, which will be important for the proof of our main result Theorem A.

2.1. Ideals in skew power series rings

Let R be a ring, carrying a complete, separated filtration $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$, let (σ, δ) be a skew derivation, compatible with w, and let $S = R_w^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ be the bounded skew power series ring. Note that the welldefinedness of the multiplicative structure on S depends on some notion of compatibility between (σ, δ) and the topology of R, but the following result ensures that we can change the filtration without losing the ring structure. In the statement, we use the notation f_u from Proposition 1.17.

Proposition 2.1. Suppose that R carries a complete filtration $v : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$, such that (σ, δ) is compatible with v, and there exist $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ with $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ such that $v(r) \geq \alpha w(r) + \beta$ for all $r \in R$. Then there is a continuous inclusion of rings $(R_w^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]], f_w) \to (R_v^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]], f_v)$ which restricts to the identity on $R[x; \sigma, \delta]$.

Proof. Define $\theta : R_w^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]] \to R_v^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]], \sum_{n\geq 1} r_n x^n \mapsto \sum_{n\geq 1} r_n x^n$. To show that this map is well-defined, we know that $w(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$, so suppose for contradiction that there exists M > 0 such that $v(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} \leq M$ for infinitely many n.

For any such n,

$$M \ge v(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} \ge \alpha w(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} + \beta = \alpha \left(w(r_n) + \frac{n}{2\alpha} \right) + \beta = \alpha \left(w(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} + \frac{(1-\alpha)n}{2\alpha} \right) + \beta$$

But we may choose this *n* such that $w(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} > \frac{M-\beta}{\alpha}$, and since $0 < \alpha \le 1$, we see that $\frac{(1-\alpha)n}{2\alpha} \ge 0$, so $\alpha \left(w(r_n) + \frac{n}{2} + \frac{(1-\alpha)n}{2\alpha} \right) + \beta > M - \beta + \beta = M$, and hence M > M, which is the desired contradiction. Thus $v(r_n) + \frac{n}{2}$ must also tend to infinity, so $\sum_{n \ge 1} r_n x^n \in R_v^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$.

If $s := \sum_{n \ge 1} r_n x^n$ and $f_w(s) \ge R$ then

$$f_{v}(\theta(s)) = f_{v}\left(\sum_{n\geq 1} r_{n}x^{n}\right) = \inf\left\{v(r_{n}) + \frac{n}{2} : n \in \mathbb{N}\right\}$$
$$\geq \inf\left\{\alpha\left(w(r_{n}) + \frac{n}{2} + \frac{(1-\alpha)n}{2\alpha}\right) + \beta : n \in \mathbb{N}\right\}$$
$$\geq \alpha \inf\left\{w(r_{n}) + \frac{n}{2} : n \in \mathbb{N}\right\} + \beta = \alpha f_{w}(s) + \beta \geq \alpha R + \beta,$$

thus θ is continuous.

Finally, clearly θ is injective and restricts to the identity map on $R[x; \sigma, \delta]$, so since $R[x; \sigma, \delta]$ is dense in $(R_w^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]], f_w)$ and $(R_v^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]], f_v)$ and θ is continuous, it follows that θ is a ring homomorphism. \Box

Now, let us suppose that w is a Zariskian filtration. In this case, for any closed two-sided ideal I, the quotient ring R/I is complete with respect to the natural quotient filtration $\overline{w}(r+I) = \sup\{w(r+y) : y \in I\}$, which is still a Zariskian filtration.

Lemma 2.2. Let I be a closed, (σ, δ) -invariant ideal of R, and let $(\overline{\sigma}, \overline{\delta})$ be the induced skew derivation of R/I, then $(\overline{\sigma}, \overline{\delta})$ is compatible with the quotient filtration \overline{w} . The closure \overline{IS} is a two-sided ideal of S and $S/\overline{IS} \cong (R/I)^b[[x; \overline{\sigma}, \overline{\delta}]]$.

(Compare [16, Lemma 3.14].)

Proof. Let d be either σ – id or δ . To prove that $(\overline{\sigma}, \overline{\delta})$ is compatible with \overline{w} , we just need to show that $\overline{w}(\overline{d}(r+I)) > \overline{w}(r+I)$ for all $r \in R$. But

$$\begin{split} \overline{w}(\overline{d}(r+I)) &= \overline{w}(d(r)+I) \\ &= \sup_{y \in I} w(d(r)+y) \\ &\geq \sup_{z \in I} w(d(r)+d(z)) \\ &> \sup_{z \in I} w(r+z) \\ &= \overline{w}(r+I). \end{split}$$
 as d has positive w -degree

Clearly \overline{IS} is a closed, right ideal of S. Consider the natural map

$$R^{b}[[x;\sigma,\delta]] \to (R/I)^{b}[[\overline{x};\overline{\sigma},\overline{\delta}]], rx^{n} \mapsto (r+I)\overline{x}^{n}.$$

This is clearly a surjective ring homomorphism, and its kernel is the set of all power series $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} r_n x^n$ such that $r_n \in I$ for all n, which is clearly equal to the closure of IS in S. Therefore \overline{IS} is a two-sided ideal, and the quotient S/\overline{IS} is isomorphic to $(R/I)^b[[\overline{x}; \overline{\sigma}, \overline{\delta}]]$ as required. \Box

Hence, given a prime (σ, δ) -ideal P of R, this lemma tells us that the induced ideal \overline{PS} is prime in S if and only if the skew power series ring $(R/P)^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is a prime ring. So we may reduce to the case P = 0 throughout.

Note: If we assume that w is positive, then f_w is also positive and Zariskian, so it follows from [11, Corollary 2.1.5] that all one-sided ideals in $R[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ are closed, so we may just write \overline{PS} as PS.

2.2. Criterion for primeness

Again, let R be a ring carrying a separated filtration $v : R \to e\mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$. The following result is [11, Ch II. Lemma 3.2.7], but we repeat the proof for the convenience of the reader.

Lemma 2.3. If the associated graded ring $gr_v R$ is a prime ring, then R is prime.

Proof. Suppose that I, J are two-sided ideals of R such that IJ = 0, then let gr I be the additive subgroup of $\operatorname{gr}_v R$ generated by elements of the form $\operatorname{gr}(y)$ for $y \in I$, and let gr J be defined similarly. Then gr I and gr J are two-sided ideals of gr R, and $(\operatorname{gr} I)(\operatorname{gr} J) = 0$. So since gr R is prime, we may assume that $\operatorname{gr} I = 0$, and hence $\operatorname{gr}(y) = 0$ for all $y \in I$.

So since v is a separated filtration, this implies that I = 0, and hence R is prime. \Box

Using Proposition 1.17, we see that the associated graded ring of $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ with respect to f_v is $(\operatorname{gr}_v R)[X]$, so it follows that if $\operatorname{gr}_v R$ is prime then $\operatorname{gr}_{f_v} R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is also prime, and hence $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is a prime ring by the lemma.

So, from now on, we will assume that R is a prime Noetherian ring, and we will assume that $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ is a Zariskian filtration, and that (σ, δ) is compatible with w. Let Q(R) be the simple Goldie ring of quotients of R, and recall that there is a unique extension of (σ, δ) to a skew derivation of Q(R).

Assumption: We suppose that Q(R) carries a separated filtration u such that (σ, δ) is compatible with u, there exists $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ with $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ such that $u(r) \geq \alpha w(r) + \beta$ for all $r \in R$, and $\operatorname{gr}_u Q(R)$ is a prime, Noetherian ring.

Let Q be the completion of Q(R) with respect to u. Then (σ, δ) extends uniquely to a skew derivation of Q by Lemma 1.10, and this extension will still be compatible with u. Since $\operatorname{gr}_u Q = \operatorname{gr}_u Q(R)$ is prime and Noetherian, and $\operatorname{gr}_{f_u} Q^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]] \cong (\operatorname{gr}_u Q)[Z]$, it follows from Corollary 1.18 and Lemma 2.3 that $Q^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is prime and Noetherian.

From now on, set $T := Q^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$. Note that since $u(r) \ge \alpha w(r) + \beta$ for all $r \in R$, it follows that the identity $(R, w) \to (R, u)$ is continuous, and using Proposition 2.1 we see that $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]] = R^b_w[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is a subring of T. Using this, we will prove that the skew power series ring $S := R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is prime.

Proposition 2.4. If I is a closed, two-sided ideal of S then \overline{TI} is a two-sided ideal of T.

Proof. Clearly \overline{TI} is a left ideal of T and $\overline{TIS} \subseteq \overline{TI}$, so it remains to prove that $\overline{TIT} \subseteq \overline{TI}$.

Since we know that $\overline{TI}x^n \subseteq \overline{TI}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, it suffices to prove that $\overline{TI}q \subseteq \overline{TI}$ for all $q \in Q$, meaning that \overline{TI} is right $Q[x; \sigma, \delta]$ -invariant, and hence right $Q^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ -invariant by density.

Since Q(R) is dense in Q and \overline{TI} is closed in T, we can assume that $q \in Q(R)$, so $q = rs^{-1}$ for some $r, s \in R$, s regular. But $\overline{TIr} \subseteq \overline{TI}$ so we only need to prove that $\overline{TIs^{-1}} \subseteq \overline{TI}$.

Consider the chain of left ideals $\overline{TI} \supseteq \overline{TI}s \supseteq \overline{TI}s^2 \supseteq \cdots$ in T. Then multiplying on the right by s^{-n} for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ gives $\overline{TI} \subseteq \overline{TI}s^{-1} \subseteq \overline{TI}s^{-2} \subseteq \cdots$, and since T is Noetherian, this chain must terminate. So $\overline{TI}s^{-(n+1)} = \overline{TI}s^{-n}$ for some n, and it follows that $\overline{TI}s^{-1} = \overline{TI}$ as required. \Box

Corollary 2.5. $R^b[[x; \sigma, \delta]]$ is a prime ring.

Proof. Suppose S has closed ideals I, J such that IJ = 0. Then by Proposition 2.4, \overline{TI} and \overline{TJ} are two-sided ideals of T, and $(\overline{TI})(\overline{TJ}) \subseteq \overline{TIJ} = 0$. But we know that T is a prime ring, so either $\overline{TI} = 0$ or $\overline{TJ} = 0$, meaning that either I = 0 or J = 0 as required. \Box

So, altogether, we have proved the following key result:

Theorem 2.6. Let R be a prime, Noetherian ring carrying a complete Zariskian filtration $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ and a compatible skew derivation (σ, δ) . Suppose further that the Goldie ring of quotients Q(R) carries a filtration u such that:

- There exist $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ and $u(r) \geq \alpha w(r) + \beta$ for all $r \in R$.
- $\operatorname{gr}_{u} Q(R)$ is prime and Noetherian.
- The unique extension of (σ, δ) to Q(R) is compatible with u.

Then the skew power series ring $R^b[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$ is prime.

For the remainder of this paper, we will focus on constructing this filtration u.

3. Minimal σ -prime ideals

Continue to suppose that R is a Noetherian ring admitting a skew derivation (σ, δ) .

3.1. The characteristic 0 case

We begin by reminding the reader of the following two results, both essentially taken from [4]. In the following, if q is a central invertible element of R and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we will write the useful element $\{n!\}_q := (1)(1+q)(1+q+q^2)\dots(1+q+\dots+q^{n-1}) \in R.$

Lemma 3.1. [4, Lemma 3(i)] Let R be a ring, and (σ, δ) a skew derivation on R. If I is a σ -ideal of R, then $I + \delta(I)$ is an ideal of R. \Box

Recall that the *prime radical* of a ring R is the intersection of all its (minimal) prime ideals [15, 4.10.13]; equivalently, as R is Noetherian, it is the unique largest nilpotent two-sided ideal of R [15, 4.10.30].

Proposition 3.2. Let R be a Noetherian ring, (σ, δ) a q-skew derivation on R for some central $q \in R^{\times}$, and N any σ -ideal of R. If $\delta^n(N^n) = 0$ for some positive integer n, and $\{n!\}_q$ is *invertible* in R, then $\delta(N)^n \subseteq N$. In particular, if N is the prime radical of R, then $\delta(N) \subseteq N$.

Proof. The following calculation is essentially identical to the one given in [4, Lemma 4(iii)]: if $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in N$ are arbitrary and $r_i = \sigma^{i-n}(s_i)$ for all $1 \le i \le n$, then

$$0 = \delta^{n}(r_{1}r_{2}\dots r_{n}) \in \{n!\}_{q} \times \sigma^{n-1}\delta(r_{1})\sigma^{n-2}\delta(r_{2})\dots\sigma\delta(r_{n-1})\delta(r_{n}) + N$$
$$= \frac{\{n!\}_{q}}{q^{(n-1)n/2}}\delta\sigma^{n-1}(r_{1})\delta\sigma^{n-2}(r_{2})\dots\delta\sigma(r_{n-1})\delta(r_{n}) + N$$
$$= \frac{\{n!\}_{q}}{q^{(n-1)n/2}}\delta(s_{1})\delta(s_{2})\dots\delta(s_{n-1})\delta(s_{n}) + N,$$

so if $\{n!\}_q$ is invertible, we see that $\delta(s_1)\delta(s_2)\ldots\delta(s_{n-1})\delta(s_n)\in N$, i.e. that $\delta(N)^n\subseteq N$.

Now suppose that N is the prime radical of R (a σ -ideal of R, as the automorphism σ permutes the minimal prime ideals of R): there exists n such that $\delta^n(N^n) = 0$ as N is a nilpotent ideal [15]. Now Lemma 3.1 shows that $J := N + \delta(N)$ is an ideal of R. Since $J^m \subseteq N + \delta(N)^m$ for any m, we see that $J^n \subseteq N$ is a nilpotent ideal, and so $J \subseteq N$. \Box

Many examples satisfy the hypotheses of the above proposition, but we single out two broad and interesting classes in particular: **Corollary 3.3.** Suppose R is a Noetherian algebra over a central subring A which is a domain, and (σ, δ) is a q-skew derivation on R for some $q \in A^{\times}$. Assume also *either* that q is not a root of unity *or* that char(R) = 0 and q = 1. Then δ preserves the prime radical N of R.

Proof. Either hypothesis on q implies that $1 + q + \cdots + q^m \neq 0$ for all $m \ge 0$, and so $\{n!\}_q \neq 0 \in A$ for all n. \Box

3.2. Calculations in characteristic p > 0

In positive characteristic, the issue is less straightforward: if R is an algebra over some finite field \mathbb{F}_{p^m} , and $q \in \mathbb{F}_{p^m}^{\times}$, then $\{n!\}_q$ will only be nonzero for sufficiently small n. We are particularly interested in the case q = 1.

We now fix a prime p and turn to the case in which R is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra. In the characteristic p case, it is generally not true that δ will preserve the prime radical of R (see the counterexample in [4, Introduction]); as will be a recurring theme throughout the paper, we will have to replace (σ, δ) by something else.

Notation 3.4. Given $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can write $n = a_0 + a_1 p + \cdots + a_r p^r$, where $0 \le a_i < p$ for all *i*. We will write $[n] = [n]_p$ to denote the element (a_0, a_1, \ldots) of \mathbb{N}^∞ , where $a_i = 0$ for all i > r. We say that [n] and [m] share no common component if there is no $i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the *i*th entry of both [n] and [m] is nonzero.

Lemma 3.5. Assume $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$. Suppose we are given $i, j, k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that [i] + [j] + [k] = [n]. Then i + j + k = n. Furthermore, for any $a, b, x \in R$, there exist $\alpha_{i,j,k} \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$ such that

$$\delta^n(axb) = \sum_{[i]+[j]+[k]=[n]} \alpha_{i,j,k} \delta^i \sigma^{n-i}(a) \delta^j \sigma^k(x) \delta^k(b).$$
(3.2.1)

Proof. The first statement is clear, since if [i] + [j] + [k] = [n] then the *p*-adic coefficients of *i*, *j* and *k* sum to the corresponding coefficients of *n*. (The converse to this statement is false, of course.)

For the second statement, let r_n be the index of the final nonzero entry of [n], or -1 if n = 0. When $r_n = -1$ there is nothing to prove, as $\delta^0(axb) = axb$. So let us take an integer $t \ge 1$ such that the result is known to hold for all m with $r_m < t$, i.e. all $m = a_0 + a_1p + \cdots + a_sp^s$ with s < t. We will prove the result for arbitrary $n = m + p^t y$ for some $m, y \in \mathbb{N}$ with $r_m < t$ and y < p, i.e. for all n with $r_n < t + 1$, and then we will be done by induction.

By the inductive hypothesis,

$$\delta^n(axb) = \delta^{p^t y}(\delta^m(axb)) = \delta^{p^t y}\left(\sum_{[i]+[j]+[k]=[m]} \alpha_{i,j,k}\delta^i \sigma^{m-i}(a)\delta^j \sigma^k(x)\delta^k(b)\right).$$
 (3.2.2)

Using the fact that δ^{p^t} is a σ^{p^t} -derivation, as in Remark 1.2, we may now apply Lemma 1.1 twice to each term on the right-hand side to get a "trinomial" expansion. Ignoring the scalars $\alpha_{i,j,k}$ for now, we can calculate that

$$\delta^{p^t y}(a'x'b') = \sum_{u+v+w=y} \binom{y}{u,v,w} \delta^{p^t u} \sigma^{p^t(v+w)}(a') \delta^{p^t v} \sigma^{p^t w}(x') \delta^{p^t w}(b'),$$

into which we can substitute $a' = \delta^i \sigma^{m-i}(a)$, $x' = \delta^j \sigma^k(x)$ and $b' = \delta^k(b)$ for each [i] + [j] + [k] = [m], to get

$$\delta^{p^{t}y}(\delta^{i}\sigma^{m-i}(a)\delta^{j}\sigma^{k}(x)\delta^{k}(b)) = \sum_{u+v+w=y} {\binom{y}{u,v,w}} \delta^{i+p^{t}u}\sigma^{m-i+p^{t}(v+w)}(a)\delta^{j+p^{t}v}\sigma^{k+p^{t}w}(x)\delta^{k+p^{t}w}(b).$$
(3.2.3)

Upon substituting equation (3.2.3) into equation (3.2.2), we get a sum over the indexing set

$$S = \{(i, j, k, u, v, w) : [i] + [j] + [k] = [m] \text{ and } u + v + w = y\}.$$

However, what we want, as in equation (3.2.1), is a sum over the indexing set

$$T = \{(i', j', k') : [i'] + [j'] + [k'] = [n]\}.$$

It is easy to see that setting $i' = i + p^t u$, $j' = j + p^t v$ and $k' = k + p^t w$ gives an explicit bijection $S \to T$, and that this gives $n - i' = m - i + p^t (v + w)$. Setting $\beta_{i',j',k'} = \alpha_{i,j,k} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ u, v, w \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$ and making all of these substitutions in equations (3.2.2)–(3.2.3), we get

$$\delta^{n}(axb) = \sum_{[i']+[j']+[k']=[n]} \beta_{i',j',k'} \delta^{i'} \sigma^{n-i'}(a) \delta^{j'} \sigma^{k'}(x) \delta^{k'}(b),$$

as required. \Box

Corollary 3.6. Assume $\sigma\delta = \delta\sigma$. Let *I* be an ideal, $a, b \in I$, and $x \in R$. Suppose also that there are *r*, *s* such that $\delta^r(a) \notin I$, $\delta^s(b) \notin I$, and take *r* and *s* to be the minimal such integers. If [r] and [s] share no common component, then there exists some $\alpha \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$ such that $\delta^{r+s}(axb) \equiv \alpha\delta^r\sigma^s(a)\sigma^s(x)\delta^s(b) \pmod{I}$.

Proof. Lemma 3.5 implies that $\delta^{r+s}(axb)$ is a linear combination of elements of the form $\delta^i \sigma^{r+s-i}(a) \delta^j \sigma^k(x) \delta^k(b)$, where i + j + k = r + s. But if we have either i < r or k < s, then $\delta^i \sigma^{r+s-i}(a) \delta^j \sigma^k(x) \delta^k(b) \in I$, so after reducing modulo I, the only term of interest is the term corresponding to i = r, j = 0 and k = s. As [r] and [s] share no common component, we have that [i] + [j] + [k] = [r+s] for this term, and so in the notation of Lemma 3.5 we have $\alpha = \alpha_{r,0,s} \neq 0$. \Box

3.3. The δ -core of an ideal in characteristic p > 0

Notation 3.7. Suppose I is any σ -ideal. I will in general not be preserved by δ , and to account for this, we would like to define

$$\delta\text{-core}(I) = \{ a \in I : \delta^n(a) \in I \text{ for all } n \ge 0 \}.$$

It can be checked from the definition that this is the largest (σ, δ) -ideal contained within I.

However, δ -core(I) will usually be too small for our purposes, so we also make the following definitions. As R has characteristic p, we may take $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ to be our skew derivation of interest rather than (σ, δ) . I is still a σ^{p^m} -ideal, and we may then define δ^{p^m} -core(I), the largest $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ -ideal contained within I, for all $m \geq 0$.

This is an ascending sequence, in the sense that δ^{p^m} -core $(I) \subseteq \delta^{p^{m+1}}$ -core(I) for all $m \ge 0$: so, finally, we will denote the directed limit by

$$\delta^{p^{\infty}}$$
-core $(I) = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \delta^{p^{m}}$ -core (I) .

Lemma 3.8. Fix a σ -ideal I of a Noetherian ring R of characteristic p. Then there exists $M \ge 0$ such that δ^{p^M} -core $(I) = \delta^{p^{\infty}}$ -core(I).

Proof. The sequence of ideals δ -core $(I) \subseteq \delta^p$ -core $(I) \subseteq \delta^{p^2}$ -core $(I) \subseteq \ldots$ stabilises, as R is Noetherian. \Box

We look now at the special case where I is σ -prime and M = 0 in the above lemma.

Proposition 3.9. Suppose that I is a σ -prime ideal with the property that δ -core $(I) = \delta^{p^{\infty}}$ -core(I). Then δ -core(I) is a σ -prime ideal.

Proof. Write $J = \delta$ -core(I). Suppose, for contradiction, that J is not σ -prime: then there exist elements $a, b \in R \setminus J$ such that $\sigma^n(a)Rb \subseteq J$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. As $J \subseteq I$, and I is σ -prime, we must have either $a \in I$ or $b \in I$ by Remark 1.4(ii). We will treat the case $b \in I$: the case $a \in I$ is similar.

As $b \in I \setminus J$, there exists some minimal $s \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\delta^s(b) \notin I$: fix this s. Choose also arbitrary $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in R$. By Lemma 1.1, we have $\delta^s(\sigma^n(a)xb) \equiv \sigma^n(a)x\delta^s(b) \pmod{I}$. But as $\sigma^n(a)Rb \subseteq J$, by definition of J we have $\delta^s(\sigma^n(a)Rb) \subseteq I$, implying that $\sigma^n(a)R\delta^s(b) \subseteq I$. But as $\delta^s(b) \notin I$, and n was arbitrary, we must have $a \in I$.

To obtain the necessary contradiction, we will show that in fact $a \in J$. To do this, it will suffice to show that there exists some $N \ge 0$ such that $a \in \delta^{p^N}$ -core(I), i.e. that $\delta^{lp^N}(a) \in I$ for all $l \ge 0$. To do this, it will be enough to show that $\delta^{r'}(a) \in I$ for all r' such that [r'] and [s] have no common component: then, choosing N so that $p^N > s$, it will follow that $[lp^N]$ and [s] will have no common component for all $l \ge 0$. This is how we proceed.

Suppose, for contradiction, that this is not true: let $r \ge 0$ be minimal such that [r] and [s] have no common component but $\delta^r(a) \notin I$. We may now apply Corollary 3.6 to see that, for arbitrary $x \in R$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\delta^{r+s}(\sigma^n(a)xb) \equiv \alpha \delta^r \sigma^{s+n}(a)\sigma^s(x)\delta^s(b) \pmod{I}$$

for some nonzero α . Hence, as $\sigma^n(a)xb \in J$, we have $\delta^r \sigma^{s+n}(a)\sigma^s(x)\delta^s(b) \in I$.

But $x \in R$ is arbitrary here, and σ is surjective, so this implies that $\delta^r \sigma^{s+n}(a)R\delta^s(b) \subseteq I$. Finally, rewriting this as $\sigma^n(\delta^r \sigma^s(a))R\delta^s(b) \subseteq I$ and noting once more that n was arbitrary, we can deduce from Remark 1.4(ii) (as $\delta^s(b) \notin I$) that we must have $\delta^r \sigma^s(a) \in I$, and hence $\delta^r(a) \in I$. This is a contradiction. \Box

Proof of Theorem C.

(a) As I is a σ -prime ideal, Remark 1.4(i) tells us that it is an intersection of prime ideals of R, and hence it contains the (prime) radical N of R. From Corollary 3.3, we already know that $\delta(N) \subseteq N$. As N is a (σ, δ) -ideal, we may define the induced skew derivation $(\overline{\sigma}, \overline{\delta})$ on $\overline{R} := R/N$: now $\delta(I) \subseteq I$ if and only if $\overline{\delta}(\overline{I}) \subseteq \overline{I}$. So, passing to the quotient if necessary, it will suffice to assume henceforth that N = 0, i.e. Ris a *semisimple* artinian ring.

By the standard theory of semisimple artinian rings [15, Exercise 1.1.7, Theorem 1.3.5ff.], all prime ideals of R are minimal (and maximal), and there is a finite set of centrally primitive idempotents $\{e_P : P \in \operatorname{Spec}(R)\}$ whose sum is 1_R , with the properties that $e_P R \cong R/P$ and $(1 - e_P) R \cong P$ as R-bimodules, each $e_P R$ is a simple artinian ring, and $R = \bigoplus_{P \in \operatorname{Spec}(R)} e_P R$ as a sum of two-sided ideals.

As I is a minimal σ -prime of R, there exists a σ -orbit $\mathcal{X} = \{P_1, \ldots, P_t\}$ of distinct minimal primes of R such that $I = P_1 \cap \cdots \cap P_t$. Write $\mathcal{X}' = \{P_{t+1}, \ldots, P_s\} = \operatorname{Spec}(R) \setminus \mathcal{X}$, and denote by e_i the central idempotent associated to P_i : this means that $I = e_{t+1}R \oplus \cdots \oplus e_sR$. But as \mathcal{X}' is a union of σ -orbits, σ permutes the simple rings $e_{t+1}R, \ldots, e_sR$. Now it follows from [5, Lemma 1.2] that $\delta(I) \subseteq I$.

(b) Firstly, fix one of the finitely many minimal primes P above I as in Remark 1.4(i), so that $I = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma^n(P)$. Setting $I_1 = I$ and $M_0 = 0$, we see that we have a $\sigma^{p^{M_0}}$ -prime ideal I_1 .

We now construct a sequence of ideals by induction. Suppose that we have defined a $\sigma^{p^{M_{j-1}}}$ -prime ideal I_j . Then, by Lemma 3.8, we choose the minimal $M_j \ge M_{j-1}$ such that $\delta^{p^{M_j}}$ -core (I_j) is equal to $\delta^{p^{\infty}}$ -core (I_j) ; and, by definition, the ideal $I_{j+1} = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma^{np^{M_j}}(P)$ is a $\sigma^{p^{M_j}}$ -prime ideal.

By definition, we have $I_1 \subseteq I_2 \subseteq I_3 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq P$. But as the σ -orbit of P is finite by Remark 1.4(i), and each I_j is defined to be the intersection of some prime ideals in the σ -orbit of P, this sequence must stabilise, say at $I_k = I_{k+1} = \cdots$. Let $J = I_k$ and $M = M_k$: then J is a σ^{p^M} -prime ideal satisfying δ^{p^M} -core $(J) = \delta^{p^{\infty}}$ -core(J).

- (i) As J is the intersection of the σ^{p^M} -orbit of a minimal prime ideal, it is a minimal σ^{p^M} -prime ideal.
- (ii) We know already that $I = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma^n(P)$, and this intersection is finite. But $I \subseteq J \subseteq P$ by construction, so the same is true upon replacing P by J.
- (iii) We may apply Proposition 3.9, to see that δ^{p^M} -core(J) is a σ^{p^M} -prime ideal; but δ^{p^M} -core $(J) \subseteq J$, so by (i), they must be equal. \Box

4. Constructing a filtration

Throughout this section, R will denote a prime algebra over \mathbb{Z}_p , and $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ a complete, separated Zariskian filtration such that $w(p) \ge 1$ and $w(p^n) = nw(p)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

We will also suppose that $\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ is finitely generated as a module over a graded, commutative, Noetherian subring A, containing $\operatorname{gr}(p)$, such that the non-zero part $A_{\neq 0}$ contains a non-nilpotent element. We will also assume that (σ, δ) is compatible with w.

Note: If $p \neq 0$ in R then the condition that $w(p^n) = nw(p) \ge n$ for all n implies that gr(p) is non-nilpotent of positive degree, and hence $A_{\neq 0}$ contains a non-nilpotent element. So this latter condition only needs to be stated in the case where char(R) = p.

In this section, we give a proof of Theorem B. Our notation broadly follows that of [14].

4.1. Localisation and completion

Fix a minimal prime ideal $q \triangleleft A$ not containing $A_{\neq 0}$, which we know exists since this set contains a non-nilpotent element, and hence cannot be contained in the nilradical. Moreover, if $p \neq 0$ in R, we can assume that gr(p) does not lie in q.

Now, \mathfrak{q} is a graded ideal of A, so let T be the set of homogeneous elements in $A \setminus \mathfrak{q}$, a multiplicatively closed, homogeneous, localisable subset of gr(R), and let

$$S = \{r \in R : \operatorname{gr}_w(r) \in T\}$$

be its saturated lift in R (in the sense of [10]). Then S is a left Ore-localisable subset of R by Lemma 1.12, and $S^{-1}R = Q(R)$ by the proof of [1, Lemma 3.3], as described in [14, Section 3.1].

Using Proposition 1.14, we can construct a Zariskian filtration $w' = w'_{\mathfrak{q}}$ on Q(R), which is known to satisfy the following conditions by the results of [10] and [1].

Properties 4.1.

- (i) We have $w'(x) = \max\{w(r) w(s) : \exists s \in S, r \in R \text{ such that } x = s^{-1}r\}$ for all $x \in Q(R)$.
- (ii) For all $s \in S$ and $r \in R$, we have $w'(s^{-1}r) = w'(r) w(s)$.
- (iii) $w'(r) \ge w(r)$ for all $r \in R$, with equality if $r \in S$. In particular, $w'(p) \ge 1$.
- (iv) $\operatorname{gr}_{w'}(Q(R)) \cong T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R).$

(v) The completion Q' of Q(R) with respect to w' is artinian, as in [1, §3.4].

We will be interested in this completed ring Q', with the natural filtration induced from w' (which we continue to denote by w').

Recall from Theorem 1.16 that the natural extension of (σ, δ) to Q(R) is compatible with w', and hence (σ, δ) extends to a compatible skew derivation of the completion Q' by Lemma 1.10. We will continue to denote this extension by (σ, δ) .

Now set $E = T^{-1} \operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ and $\mathfrak{q}' = T^{-1}\mathfrak{q}$, and let $U = \{x \in Q' : w'(x) \ge 0\}$ be the positive part of Q'. Write $\{F^n Q'\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ for the sequence of level sets associated to the filtration w' on Q'.

With this notation, it is known that there exists a regular normal element $z \in J(U)$ satisfying the following:

Properties 4.2.

- (i) [11, Ch.II Lemma 2.1.4] [14, Lemma 3.2] U is Noetherian and z-adically complete,
- (ii) [14, Lemma 3.2] $z^n U = F^{nw'(z)}Q'$.
- (iii) [1, §3.14, Proof of Theorem C(a)] w'(z) is the minimal positive degree of an element in E/\mathfrak{q}' . Hence we can assume that $w'(z) \leq w'(p)$, so $p \in zU$.

We will now pass to the z-adic filtration with respect to U defined on Q': that is, the filtration $v_{z,U}$ defined by $v_{z,U}(x) = r$ if and only if $x \in z^r U \setminus z^{r+1}U$ for all $x \in Q' \setminus \{0\}$.

Proposition 4.3.

- (i) If w'(z) = 1, then (σ, δ) is compatible with $v_{z,U}$.
- (ii) If char(Q') = p, then $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$ for any m such that $p^m \ge w'(z)$.
- (iii) If $\delta = \sigma \mathrm{id}$, then $(\sigma^{p^m}, \sigma^{p^m} \mathrm{id})$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$ for any m such that $m \ge w'(z)$.

Proof. The sequence of level sets associated to $v_{z,U}$ is $\{z^n U\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$.

- (i) Suppose w'(z) = 1, and write d for either σ id or δ . Then, as w' is known to be compatible with (σ, δ) , we see that $d(F^nQ') \subseteq F^{n+1}Q'$ for all n. Now Properties 4.2(ii) and (iii) imply that $z^nU = F^nQ'$, $z^{n+1}U = F^{n+1}Q'$, from which it follows trivially that $d(z^nU) \subseteq z^{n+1}U$ as required.
- (ii) Choose *m* such that $p^m \ge w'(z)$, and write *d* for either $\sigma^{p^m} \mathrm{id} = (\sigma \mathrm{id})^{p^m}$ or δ^{p^m} . Then we have $d(F^kQ') \subseteq F^{k+p^m}Q' \subseteq F^{k+w'(z)}Q'$ for all *k*, and Property 4.2(ii) implies that $z^nU = F^{nw'(z)}Q'$, $z^{n+1}U = F^{(n+1)w'(z)}Q'$, from which it again follows that $d(z^nU) \subseteq z^{n+1}U$.
- (iii) Since $\deg_{w'}(\sigma \mathrm{id}) \ge 1$ and $w'(p) \ge 1$, it follows immediately from Lemma 1.9 that $\deg_{w'}(\sigma^{p^m} \mathrm{id}) \ge m \ge w'(z)$, and hence $\deg_{v_{\pi,U}}(\sigma^{p^m} \mathrm{id}) \ge 1$ as required. \Box

Note: The construction of $Q', U, z, w', v_{z,U}$ from the initial data R, w is almost identical to that given in [1, Section 3], but that article assumed that gr(R) was commutative, while we work in the more general setting assumed in [14]. However, once Q' was constructed, commutativity of gr(R) was not used again in [1], so in the following sections, we can use results from [1] without the danger that any aspects of the proof will fail to carry across to our setting.

4.2. Passing to a simple quotient

As in the previous subsection, Q' is an artinian algebra over a field, w' a Zariskian filtration on Q', U the w'-positive part of Q', $z \in J(U)$ a regular normal element, and $v_{z,U}$ the associated z-adic filtration. We will now further assume that some maximal ideal M of Q' is a (σ, δ) -ideal, and we will set $\hat{Q} = Q'/M$, a simple artinian ring. Also set V = (U + M)/M, and $\overline{z} = z + M$.

We now list some properties of \widehat{Q} , given in [1].

Properties 4.4.

- (i) [1, Theorem 3.11] There exists a maximal order $\mathcal{O} \subseteq \widehat{Q}$ equivalent to V.
- (ii) [1, §3.6, Proposition 3.7(a)] $V \subseteq \mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{-r}V$ for some $r \ge 0$.
- (iii) [1, Theorem 3.6] \mathcal{O} is a prime hereditary Noetherian ring, with a unique maximal two-sided ideal $J(\mathcal{O})$, and $p \in J(\mathcal{O})$.
- (iv) [1, Proof of Lemma 3.7(d)] There exists $k \ge 1$ such that $\overline{z}^k \mathcal{O} \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})$.
- (v) We will define $J(\mathcal{O})^n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Indeed, if $n \ge 0$, then the definition of $J(\mathcal{O})^n$ is standard: then we set $J(\mathcal{O})^{-1} = \{x \in \widehat{Q} : J(\mathcal{O})x \subseteq \mathcal{O}\}$ and $J(\mathcal{O})^{-n} := (J(\mathcal{O})^{-1})^n$. The argument in [1, proof of Proposition 3.9] shows that J is left and right invertible, so it follows that $J(\mathcal{O})^a J(\mathcal{O})^b = J(\mathcal{O})^{a+b}$ for all $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Eventually, we aim to equip \widehat{Q} with the $J(\mathcal{O})$ -adic filtration u: that is, the filtration defined by u(x) = r if and only if $x \in J(\mathcal{O})^r \setminus J(\mathcal{O})^{r+1}$ for all $x \in \widehat{Q} \setminus \{0\}$.

However, in order to obtain interesting information about skew power series over \hat{Q} , we need to understand how (σ, δ) interacts with this filtration.

Lemma 4.5. Suppose that τ is an automorphism of \widehat{Q} fixing \mathcal{O} , and let d be a τ -derivation satisfying $d(\mathcal{O}) \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})$ and $d(J(\mathcal{O})) \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^2$. Then $d(J(\mathcal{O})^n) \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^{n+1}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. We are given that the statement is true for n = 0 and n = 1. Note that τ must preserve $J(\mathcal{O})$ by the uniqueness of Property 4.4.

When $n \geq 2$, we may proceed by induction. Suppose $d(J(\mathcal{O})^{n-1}) \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^n$. Let $a \in J(\mathcal{O})^{n-1}$ and $b \in J(\mathcal{O})$: then $d(ab) = d(a)b + \tau(a)d(b)$, and both terms on the right-hand side are contained in $J(\mathcal{O})^{n+1}$. But as $J(\mathcal{O})^n$ is generated by elements of the form ab, we see that $d(J(\mathcal{O})^n) \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^{n+1}$.

Now choose $a \in J(\mathcal{O})^{-n}$ for $n \geq 1$. Given arbitrary $b \in J(\mathcal{O})^n$, we have $d(a)b = d(ab) - \tau(a)d(b)$, which is an element of $J(\mathcal{O})$, and hence $d(a)J(\mathcal{O})^n \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})$. Right-multiplying both sides by $J(\mathcal{O})^{-1}$ and using Property 4.4(v) now shows that $d(a)J(\mathcal{O})^{n-1} \subseteq \mathcal{O}$, and so by definition $d(a) \in J(\mathcal{O})^{-n+1}$ as required. \Box

We will now show that the filtered ring (\hat{Q}, u) inherits certain near-compatibility properties from $(Q', v_{z,U})$. To do this, it will be convenient to pass through several intermediate filtrations, for which we immediately set up notation:

- the z-adic filtration with respect to U on Q', denoted $v_{z,U}$ with level sets $\{z^n U\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$,
- the \overline{z} -adic filtration with respect to V on \widehat{Q} , denoted $v_{\overline{z},V}$ with level sets $\{\overline{z}^n V\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$,
- the \overline{z} -adic filtration with respect to \mathcal{O} on \widehat{Q} , denoted $v_{\overline{z},\mathcal{O}}$ with level sets $\{\overline{z}^n\mathcal{O}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$,
- the $J(\mathcal{O})$ -adic filtration on Q as defined above, denoted u with level sets $\{J(\mathcal{O})^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$.

Note that $\overline{z}^n V = (z^n U + M)/M$: that is, $v_{\overline{z},V}$ is just the quotient filtration induced by $v_{z,U}$ on \widehat{Q} . The following result goes a long way towards demonstrating that the data (\widehat{Q}, u) satisfies the hypotheses required of Theorem 2.6. **Theorem 4.6.** $\operatorname{gr}_u(\widehat{Q})$ is a prime, Noetherian ring, and there exists $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ with $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ such that $u(q+M) \geq \alpha w'(q) + \beta$ for all $q \in Q'$.

Proof. The proof of [1, Theorem C] shows that $\operatorname{gr}_u(\widehat{Q})$ is a prime, Noetherian ring, so we only need to consider the second statement. We want to compare the values attained by q under the filtrations $w', v_{z,U}, v_{\overline{z},\mathcal{O}}$ and u.

Firstly, since $z^n U$ maps into $\overline{z}^n V$ and $\overline{z}^n V \subseteq \overline{z}^n \mathcal{O}$ for all n, it is clear that $v_{z,U}(q) \leq v_{\overline{z},V}(q+M)$ and $v_{\overline{z},V}(q+M) \leq v_{\overline{z},\mathcal{O}}(q+M)$.

Using Properties 4.2(ii), we see that $z^n U = F^{nw'(z)}Q'$, which means that

$$v_{z,U}(q) = \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : q \in z^n U\} = \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : q \in F^{nw'(z)}Q'\}$$
$$= \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : w'(q) \ge nw'(z)\} = \left\lfloor \frac{w'(q)}{w'(z)} \right\rfloor \ge \frac{w'(q)}{w'(z)} - 1.$$

Finally, by Properties 4.4(iv), there exists $k \ge 1$ such that $\overline{z}^k \mathcal{O} \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})$, so $\overline{z}^{km} \mathcal{O} \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^m$. Therefore, if $N := v_{\overline{z},\mathcal{O}}(q+M)$ and N = kt + s for some $t, s \in \mathbb{Z}, 0 \le s < k$, we see that $q + M \in \overline{z}^N \mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{kt} \mathcal{O} \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^t$, so $u(q+M) \ge t = \frac{N}{k} - \frac{s}{k} > \frac{v_{\overline{z},\mathcal{O}}(q+M)}{k} - 1$. So, let $\alpha := \frac{1}{kw'(z)}, \beta := -1 - \frac{1}{k}$, then $0 < \alpha \le 1$ and

$$u(q+M) \ge \frac{1}{k} v_{\overline{z},\mathcal{O}}(q+M) - 1 \ge \frac{1}{k} v_{\overline{z},V}(q+M) - 1 \ge \frac{1}{k} v_{z,U}(q) - 1$$
$$\ge \frac{1}{kw'(z)} w'(q) - \frac{1}{k} - 1 = \alpha w'(q) + \beta. \quad \Box$$

So all that remains to apply Theorem 2.6 is compatibility of the skew derivation with u.

Proposition 4.7. Suppose that (σ, δ) is compatible with $v_{z,U}$, and write $(\widehat{\sigma}, \widehat{\delta})$ for the skew derivation induced by (σ, δ) on \widehat{Q} . Then $(\widehat{\sigma}, \widehat{\delta})$ is compatible with $v_{\overline{z},V}$.

Proof. Write d for either δ or σ – id, and \hat{d} for $\hat{\delta}$ or $\hat{\sigma}$ – id respectively. By definition, we get

$$\widehat{d}(\overline{z}^n V) = \widehat{d}((z^n U + M)/M) = (d(z^n U) + M)/M \subseteq (z^{n+1}U + M)/M = \overline{z}^{n+1}V. \quad \Box$$

Proposition 4.8. Suppose that $(\hat{\sigma}, \hat{\delta})$ is compatible with $v_{\overline{z},V}$. Then:

- (i) If $\operatorname{char}(\widehat{Q}) = p$, then there exists some ℓ such that $(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{\ell}}, \widehat{\delta}^{p^{\ell}})$ is compatible with u.
- (ii) If $\hat{\delta} = \hat{\sigma} id$, then there exists some ℓ such that $(\hat{\sigma}^{p^{\ell}}, \hat{\sigma}^{p^{\ell}} id)$ is compatible with u.

Proof. For simplicity of notation, we will identify $\Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}$ throughout this proof without loss of generality. Also write deg_V, deg_O and deg_{J(O)} for degrees with respect to the filtrations $v_{\overline{z},V}$, $v_{\overline{z},O}$ and u respectively. Write \hat{d} for either $\hat{\delta}$ or $\hat{\sigma}$ – id. Cases (i) and (ii) will be treated in parallel, as their methods are very similar.

Step 1. By assumption, $\deg_V(\widehat{d}) \ge 1$. Property 4.4(ii) tells us that $V \subseteq \mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{-r}V$ for some r, and hence, multiplying through by \overline{z}^n , it follows that $\overline{z}^n V \subseteq \overline{z}^n \mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{n-r}V$ for all n.

In case (i), choose some integer m such that $p^m \ge r+1$: this implies that $\deg_V(\widehat{d}^{p^m}) \ge p^m \ge r+1$, and so $\widehat{d}^{p^m}(\overline{z}^n\mathcal{O}) \subseteq \widehat{d}^{p^m}(\overline{z}^{n-r}V) \subseteq \overline{z}^{n+1}V \subseteq \overline{z}^{n+1}\mathcal{O}$: or, in other words, $\deg_{\mathcal{O}}(\widehat{d}^{p^m}) \ge 1$.

In case (ii), choose some integer $m \ge r+1$. Then since $p \in \overline{z}V$, we have that $v_{\overline{z},V}(p) \ge 1$, so applying Lemma 1.9 gives that $\deg_V(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^m} - \mathrm{id}) \ge m$. We conclude similarly that $\deg_{\mathcal{O}}(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^m} - \mathrm{id}) \ge 1$.

Step 2. [1, §3.14, proof of Theorem C] tells us that $\overline{z}^t \in J(\mathcal{O})^2$ for a large enough integer t: fix such a t.

In case (i), let ℓ be such that $p^{\ell-m} \ge t$, so that

$$\widehat{d}^{p^{\ell}}(\mathcal{O}) \subseteq (\widehat{d}^{p^m})^{p^{\ell-m}}(\mathcal{O}) \subseteq \overline{z}^{p^{\ell-m}}\mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^t\mathcal{O} \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^2.$$

Now Lemma 4.5 shows that $\deg(\widehat{d}^{p^{\ell}}) \geq 1$.

In case (ii), we can apply Lemma 1.9 to show that $\deg_{\mathcal{O}}(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{\ell}} - \mathrm{id}) = \deg_{\mathcal{O}}((\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{m}})^{p^{\ell-m}} - \mathrm{id}) \geq \ell - m$ for any ℓ : choosing $\ell \geq m + t$ allows us to conclude similarly that $(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{\ell}} - \mathrm{id})(\mathcal{O})$ is contained in $J(\mathcal{O})^{2}$, and hence $\deg_{J(\mathcal{O})}(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{\ell}} - \mathrm{id}) \geq 1$. \Box

4.3. Invariant maximal ideals

The results of the previous subsection are almost sufficient to complete the proof of Theorem B. The only obstacle is the need to find a maximal ideal M of Q' that is (σ, δ) -invariant. In general, a maximal ideal M_1 of Q' will not be a σ -ideal, but will instead have a nontrivial σ -orbit $\{M_1, \ldots, M_s\}$, so we cannot pass to the quotient Q'/M_1 without losing the skew derivation (σ, δ) .

Write $N := \bigcap_{i=1}^{s} M_i$, a minimal σ -prime ideal, and set $\hat{Q} = Q'/N$, now a semisimple artinian ring, and let $\hat{\sigma}$ be the automorphism of \hat{Q} induced by σ . In this section, we will prove that after raising σ to a sufficiently high p'th power, this construction produces a simple ring.

Now, even though \widehat{Q} is $\widehat{\sigma}$ -prime as defined, it may not be $\widehat{\sigma}^{p^m}$ -prime for $m \ge 1$: that is, the σ -orbit $\{M_1, \ldots, M_s\}$ may break up into more than one σ^{p^m} -orbit. This happens precisely when p divides s, so we begin by showing that we can restrict our attention away from this case.

Lemma 4.9. There exists some $k \ge 0$ such that $M'_1 := M_1$ has σ^{p^k} -orbit $\{M'_1, M'_2, \ldots, M'_t\}$ for some t coprime to p.

Proof. Suppose s = ps'. Write $\mathfrak{O} = \{1, 2, \dots, s\}$ and $\mathfrak{o}_i = \{pn + i : 0 \le n \le s' - 1\}$ for $1 \le i \le p$: then \mathfrak{O} is the disjoint union of the $\mathfrak{o}_1, \dots, \mathfrak{o}_p$. These are index sets for σ -orbits and σ^p -orbits respectively: that is, each set $\{M_j : j \in \mathfrak{o}_i\}$ (for $1 \le i \le p$) is a σ^p -orbit, and their disjoint union is the σ -orbit $\{M_j : j \in \mathfrak{O}\}$.

So we will replace σ by σ^p , and replace the σ -orbit $\{M_j : j \in \mathfrak{O}\}$ with the σ^p -orbit $\{M_j : j \in \mathfrak{o}_1\}$. This orbit has size s', and so the result follows from induction. \Box

Replacing σ by σ^{p^k} , if necessary, we may assume henceforth that p does not divide s.

Now, using the general theory of semisimple artinian rings, we see that $\widehat{Q} \cong A_1 \times \cdots \times A_s$, where $A_i = Q'/M_i$ for each *i*. Furthermore, we may assume without loss of generality that $\sigma(M_i) = M_{i+1}$ for each *i* (indices taken modulo *s*), and hence the action of $\widehat{\sigma}$ on $A_1 \times \cdots \times A_s$ is given by $\widehat{\sigma}(a_1 + M_1, \cdots, a_s + M_s) = (\sigma(a_s) + M_1, \sigma(a_1) + M_2, \cdots, \sigma(a_{s-1}) + M_s)$.

Now, let us assume σ - id has positive degree with respect to $v_{z,U}$, i.e. $(\sigma, \sigma - id)$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$ as before. Set $V = (U + N)/N \subseteq \hat{Q}$, and write $\overline{z} = z + N \in \hat{Q}$. We set up the remaining necessary objects and filtrations in advance:

- $V_i \subseteq A_i$ be the image of V under the *i*'th projection $\widehat{Q} \to A_i$,
- $W := V_1 \times V_2 \times \cdots \times V_s \subseteq \widehat{Q},$
- $\overline{z}_i \in V_i$ the image of \overline{z} under the projection $\widehat{Q} \to A_i$ for each i,
- $v_{\overline{z},V}$ the \overline{z} -adic filtration with respect to V on \widehat{Q} with level sets $\{\overline{z}^n V\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$.

It follows from the proof of Proposition 4.7 that $\hat{\sigma}$ – id has positive degree with respect to $v_{\overline{z},V}$. Since each A_i is simple, we are now back in the situation of the previous subsection, and we may choose a maximal order $\mathcal{O}_i \subseteq A_i$ equivalent to V_i satisfying Properties 4.4 (where \hat{Q} is replaced by A_i in the statement). In particular, $\mathcal{O}_i \subseteq \overline{z_i}^{-r_i} V_i$ for some $r_i \geq 0$ for each i.

So, write $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{O}_s \subseteq A_1 \times \cdots \times A_s \cong \widehat{Q}$, and set r to be the maximum of the r_i for $1 \leq i \leq s$, so that $\mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z_1}^r V_1 \times \cdots \times \overline{z_s}^r V_s$. Note that since $A_i = Q'/M_i$, it follows that \overline{z}_i is the image of $z \in U$ modulo the maximal ideal M_1 , and since $\widehat{Q} \cong A_1 \times \cdots \times A_s$, it is clear that the image of \overline{z} under this isomorphism is $(\overline{z}_1, \cdots, \overline{z}_s)$, and hence $\mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{-r} W$.

Also, [17, Proposition 3.2.4(ii)] implies that $V \subseteq W$ and the two are equivalent as orders in \widehat{Q} . This implies that $W \subseteq \overline{z}^{-a}V$ for some $a \ge 0$, so $\mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{-(r+a)}V$, so we set x := r + a to get that $\mathcal{O} \subseteq \overline{z}^{-x}V$.

Lemma 4.10. \mathcal{O} is a maximal order equivalent to V inside \hat{Q} .

Proof. Since $V \subseteq W \subseteq \mathcal{O}$ and each \mathcal{O}_i is prime by Property 4.4(iii) applied to V_i , \mathcal{O} is a maximal order by [17, Proposition 5.1.5], equivalent to W. \Box

Note that $J(\mathcal{O}) = J(\mathcal{O}_1) \times \cdots \times J(\mathcal{O}_s)$, so we again consider the $J(\mathcal{O})$ -adic filtration u on \widehat{Q} with level sets $\{J(\mathcal{O})^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$. If we set u_i as the $J(\mathcal{O}_i)$ -adic filtration on A_i , then it follows that

$$u(a_1 + M_1, \cdots, u_s + A_s) = \min\{u_i(a_i + M_i) : i = 1, \cdots, s\},\$$

i.e. u is the product filtration.

It follows from [1, §3.14, proof of Theorem C] that for each *i* we may choose some large enough integer t_i such that $\overline{z}_i^{t_i} \in J(\mathcal{O}_i)^2$, and setting $t = \max_i \{t_i\}$ we see that

$$\overline{z}^t = (\overline{z}_1^t, \cdots, \overline{z}_s^t) \in J(\mathcal{O}_1)^2 \times \cdots \times J(\mathcal{O}_s)^2 = J(\mathcal{O})^2.$$

Therefore, since $\hat{\sigma}$ – id has positive degree with respect to $v_{\overline{z},V}$, it follows from Lemma 1.9 that $\hat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}}$ – id has degree at least t + x with respect to $v_{\overline{z},V}$, i.e.

$$(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}} - \mathrm{id})(\overline{z}^m V) \subseteq \overline{z}^{m+t+x} V$$

for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$.

In particular, $(\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}} - \mathrm{id})(\mathcal{O}) \subseteq (\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}} - \mathrm{id})(\overline{z}^{-x}V) \subseteq \overline{z}^t V \subseteq J(\mathcal{O})^2$, and hence $\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}} - \mathrm{id}$ has positive degree with respect to the $J(\mathcal{O})$ -adic filtration u by Lemma 4.5, i.e. $u((\widehat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}} - \mathrm{id})(q)) > u(q)$ for all $q \in \widehat{Q}$.

In particular, if we set $e_i = (0, \dots, 0, 1, 0, \dots, 0) \in A_1 \times \dots \times A_s \cong \hat{Q}$, where the 1 is in the *i*'th position, then $u((\hat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}} - \mathrm{id})(e_1)) > u(e_1) = 0$. But $\hat{\sigma}^n(e_1) = e_{n+1}$, subscripts taken modulo s, so $\hat{\sigma}^{p^{t+x}}(e_1) = e_{p^{t+x}+1}$, and hence $u(e_{p^{t+x}+1} - e_1) > 0$, and since u is just the product filtration, this implies that e_1 and $e_{p^{t+x}+1}$ must share a common non-zero component, which is only possible if $p^{t+x} \equiv 0 \pmod{s}$.

But since we are assuming that p does not divide s, this is only possible if s = 1, and hence $\widehat{Q} = A_1$ is a simple ring, and $N = M_1$ is maximal. So altogether, we have proved:

Theorem 4.11. If σ is an automorphism of Q' such that $(\sigma, \sigma - \mathrm{id})$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$, then there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and a maximal ideal M of Q' such that M is σ^{p^k} -invariant. \Box

4.4. Proof of main results

As in previous subsections, and in the statement of Theorem B, R will denote a *prime* algebra over \mathbb{Z}_p , equipped with a complete, separated Zariskian filtration $w : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ such that $w(p^n) = nw(p) \ge n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\operatorname{gr}_w(R)$ is finitely generated as a module over a central, Noetherian graded subring A containing $\operatorname{gr}(p)$, and $A_{\neq 0}$ contains a non-nilpotent element. We also assume that (σ, δ) is compatible with w and $\sigma \delta = \delta \sigma$.

Proof of Theorem B. Following [1], our construction goes as follows.

Step 1. Let Q' be the completion of Q(R) with respect to the filtration w' constructed in §4.1, an artinian ring by Property 4.1(v). As we remarked below Properties 4.2, the induced skew derivation (σ, δ) on Q' remains compatible with w'.

Step 2. Let U be the positive part of Q', i.e. $U = w'^{-1}([0,\infty])$, and choose the regular normal element $z \in J(U)$ satisfying Properties 4.2. Then the z-adic filtration $v_{z,U}$ with respect to U on Q' satisfies Proposition 4.3: that is, if we are in case (a) (where R is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra), then we have some m such that $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$, and if we are in case (b) (where $\delta = \sigma - \mathrm{id}$), then we have some m such that $(\sigma^{p^m}, \delta^{p^m})$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$.

Step 3. In both cases, we now know that $(\sigma^{p^m}, \sigma^{p^m} - \mathrm{id})$ is compatible with $v_{z,U}$, and so we may apply Theorem 4.11 to choose a maximal ideal M of Q' such that M is σ^{p^k} -invariant for some $k \ge m$. It follows trivially that M is $(\sigma^{p^t}, \sigma^{p^t} - \mathrm{id})$ -invariant for t = k, which is what we need for case (b).

So assume we are in case (a). As M is a minimal σ^{p^k} -invariant prime ideal, it is in particular a minimal σ^{p^k} -prime ideal, and so it follows from Theorem C that there exists an ideal $J \supseteq M$ such that J is σ^{p^t} -prime for some $t \ge k$, and $\delta^{p^t}(J) \subseteq J$. But M is a maximal ideal of Q', and hence J = M, meaning that M is $(\sigma^{p^t}, \delta^{p^t})$ -invariant.

Step 4. Let $\widehat{Q} := Q'/M$, a simple artinian ring. As M is invariant under $(\sigma^{p^t}, \delta^{p^t})$ in case (a), there is an induced skew derivation $(\widehat{\sigma^{p^t}}, \widehat{\delta^{p^t}})$ on \widehat{Q} in this case; similarly, there is an induced skew derivation $(\widehat{\sigma^{p^t}}, \widehat{\sigma^{p^t}} - \mathrm{id})$ on \widehat{Q} in case (b).

Set V = (U + M)/M and $\overline{z} = z + M$ as in §4.2. Writing $v_{\overline{z},V}$ for the quotient filtration of $v_{z,U}$ as in that subsection, we see by Proposition 4.7 that our induced skew derivation on \hat{Q} is compatible with $v_{\overline{z},V}$ in both cases.

Step 5. Let \mathcal{O} be a maximal order in \widehat{Q} equivalent to V as in Properties 4.4. Let u be the $J(\mathcal{O})$ -adic filtration on V, and it follows from Theorem 4.6 that $\operatorname{gr}_u \widehat{Q}$ is prime and Noetherian. Since Q(R) is simple, the composition $Q(R) \to Q' \to \widehat{Q}$ is injective, so we will denote the restriction of u to Q(R) again by u: we have seen that \widehat{Q} is in fact the completion of Q(R) with respect to this restriction, so $\operatorname{gr}_u Q(R) \cong \operatorname{gr}_u \widehat{Q}$ is prime and Noetherian as required. Also, the map $(R, w) \to (Q(R), u)$ is continuous by [1, Theorem C].

Furthermore, applying Proposition 4.8, we may find some ℓ such that the skew derivations $\left((\widehat{\sigma^{p^t}})^{p^\ell}, (\widehat{\delta^{p^t}})^{p^\ell}\right)$ in case (a), resp. $\left((\widehat{\sigma^{p^t}})^{p^\ell}, (\widehat{\sigma^{p^t}})^{p^\ell} - \mathrm{id}\right)$ in case (b), are compatible with u. But the restrictions of $(\widehat{\sigma^{p^t}})^{p^\ell}$ and $(\widehat{\delta^{p^t}})^{p^\ell}$ to Q(R) are simply σ^{p^N} and δ^{p^N} respectively, where $N = t + \ell$. The desired conclusions now follow. \Box

Finally, we conclude with a proof of our main result, which now follows easily from Theorem B and the results from §2.

Proof of Theorem A. By Theorem B, there exists a filtration u on Q(R) such that $\operatorname{gr}_u Q(R)$ is prime and Noetherian, and the map $(R, w) \to (Q(R), u)$ is continuous.

Moreover, by Theorem 4.6, there exist $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ and $u(q) \geq \alpha w'(q) + \beta$ for all $q \in Q(R)$. So since $w'(r) \geq w(r)$ for all $r \in R$ by Properties 4.1(iii), we see that $u(r) \geq \alpha w(r) + \beta$.

Also using Theorem A, we see that if R is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra then there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(\sigma^{p^N}, \delta^{p^N})$ is compatible with u, and if $\delta = \sigma$ – id then there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(\sigma^{p^N}, \sigma^{p^N} - \mathrm{id})$ is compatible with u.

Therefore, it follows from Theorem 2.6 that if R is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra then the skew power series ring $R^b[[x^{p^N}; \sigma^{p^N}, \delta^{p^N}]]$ is prime, and if $\delta = \sigma$ – id then $R^b[[(x+1)^{p^N} - 1; \sigma^{p^N}, \sigma^{p^N} - \mathrm{id}]]$ is prime, and this completes the proof. \Box

4.5. Applications

Example 4.12. Suppose that A is an iterated local skew power series ring (in the sense of [22]) with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m}_A , i.e. $A = k[[x_1]][[x_2; \sigma_2, \delta_2]] \dots [[x_n; \sigma_n, \delta_n]]$, over $k = \mathbb{F}_p$ or \mathbb{Z}_p , such that $\operatorname{gr}_f(A)$ is an iterated

commutative polynomial ring over \mathbb{F}_p . (Here, f can be taken to be the \mathfrak{m}_A -adic filtration or other related filtrations – see the remark below.) Suppose (τ, ε) is a skew derivation on A which is compatible with the filtration. Write $S = A[[y; \tau, \varepsilon]]$. Then, given any prime ideal $P \triangleleft A$ which is (τ, ε) -invariant, we will show that there exists a finite-index subring $S_N \subseteq S$ (containing A) such that PS_N is a prime ideal of S_N .

Remark. The assumption that $\operatorname{gr}_f(A)$ is commutative is reasonably mild: for example, the graded ring associated to the natural \mathfrak{m}_A -adic filtration will be commutative if all of the (σ_i, δ_i) are compatible in the sense of Definition 1.8. Alternatively, we can construct such a filtration f if A is triangular – see [22, §0.3].

We proceed as follows. It is known already that $\mathfrak{m}_A S$ is a prime ideal of S [22], so take any non-maximal prime ideal $P \triangleleft A$ which is preserved by (τ, ε) . We will show that R = A/P satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem A by induction on n – in particular, we need only show that $\operatorname{gr}(R)_{\neq 0}$ contains a non-nilpotent element.

So we begin with a base case. If $A = \mathbb{F}_p[[x_1]]$ or \mathbb{Z}_p , then (as P is assumed non-maximal) we must have P = 0. Hence $\operatorname{gr}(R) \cong \mathbb{F}_p[X]$, and we are done by taking the element X.

For larger n, write $B = k[[x_1]][[x_2; \sigma_2, \delta_2]] \dots [[x_{n-1}; \sigma_{n-1}, \delta_{n-1}]]$ (again a local ring with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m}_B), so that $A = B[[x_n; \sigma_n, \delta_n]]$. In this context, we know that $(P \cap B)A$ is a two-sided ideal of A, and we write \overline{a} for the image of a under the map $A \to \overline{A} := A/(P \cap B)A$. So in the case where $P \cap B = \mathfrak{m}_B$, we know that R = A/P is a prime quotient ring of $\overline{A} \cong \mathbb{F}_p[[\overline{x}_n]]$ and that P is non-maximal, so $R \cong \mathbb{F}_p[[\overline{x}_n]]$ and $\operatorname{gr}(R) \cong \mathbb{F}_p[X]$ as above.

Hence we assume that $P \cap B \neq \mathfrak{m}_B$. Continue to denote the filtration on A by f, and assume it takes values inside $e\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ for some e > 0. Note that f induces separated filtrations f_P on A/P (and on the subgroup (B + P)/P) and \overline{f} on B defined by

$$f_P(a+P) = \sup\{f(a+r) : r \in P\},\$$

$$\overline{f}(b+P \cap B) = \sup\{f(b+r) : r \in P \cap B\}$$

for all $a \in A, b \in B$. It is clear that, for any $b \in B$, we have $\overline{f}(b + P \cap B) \leq f_P(b + P)$.

We may now invoke [16, Theorem 3.17(ii)], which holds with an identical proof even under our slightly weaker hypotheses. This tells us that $P \cap B$ must be a (σ_n, δ_n) -prime ideal of B. In particular, it also cannot contain any *power* of \mathfrak{m}_B , as \mathfrak{m}_B is a (σ_n, δ_n) -invariant ideal. In particular, given any large $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we can find an element $b \in \mathfrak{m}_B^N \setminus (P \cap B)$, which must satisfy $b+P \neq 0$ and $f_P(b+P) \geq \overline{f}(b+P \cap B) \geq eN$. In other words: $(B+P)/P \leq A/P = R$ contains elements of arbitrarily large value under f_P , which ensures that $\operatorname{gr}(R)$ cannot be finite-dimensional as an \mathbb{F}_p -vector space. This implies that $\operatorname{gr}(R)_{\neq 0}$ contains a non-nilpotent element, and so we may apply Theorem A.

Example 4.13. Let G be a uniform pro-p group in the sense of [6], H a closed isolated normal subgroup satisfying $G/H \cong \mathbb{Z}_p$, and $k = \mathbb{F}_p$ or \mathbb{Z}_p . Then we may consider the completed group algebra (*Iwasawa algebra*) kH. It is known (see e.g. [2,21]) that kG may be written as $kH[[x;\sigma,\delta]]$, where x = g - 1, σ is conjugation by g and $\delta = \sigma$ - id for any $g \in G \setminus H$ such that $G = \overline{\langle H, g \rangle}$.

Now, for every G-invariant (= (σ, δ) -invariant) prime ideal $P \triangleleft kH$, we may consider the ring kG/PkG as a skew power series ring over kH/P by [16, Lemma 3.14(iv)]. If H is solvable, then kH/P satisfies the hypotheses of Example 4.12 (and hence of Theorem A) whenever P is not maximal; if not, a similar argument by considering the H-prime ideal $P \cap kK$, where K is a maximal proper closed isolated normal subgroup of H, will suffice.

Remark. In this context, Theorem A tells us that the extension of P to the ring $kH[[x_{(N)}; \sigma_{(N)}, \delta_{(N)}]]$ is prime. But note that $x_{(N)} = g^{p^N} - 1$, $\sigma_{(N)}$ is conjugation by g^{p^N} , and $\delta_{(N)} = \sigma_{(N)}$ - id: that is, if we set G_P to be the (open, normal) subgroup of G defined by $G_P := \overline{\langle H, g^{p^N} \rangle}$, this ring is just the completed group algebra kG_P , i.e. the extension $P \cdot kG_P$ is prime. Moreover, $kG = kG_P * (G/G_P)$, and $G/G_P \cong \mathbb{Z}/p^N\mathbb{Z}$: hence the ideal $P \cdot kG$ may be viewed as $(P \cdot kG_P) * (\mathbb{Z}/p^N\mathbb{Z})$ as in the Introduction, and we may conclude Corollary 0.2 depending on the characteristic of kG/P.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Adam Jones: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. William Woods: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- [1] K. Ardakov, Prime ideals in nilpotent Iwasawa algebras, Invent. Math. 190 (2) (2012) 439-503.
- [2] K. Ardakov, K.A. Brown, Primeness, semiprimeness and localisation in Iwasawa algebras, Transl. Am. Math. Soc. 359 (2007) 1499–1515.
- [3] Jeffrey Bergen, Piotr Grzeszczuk, Skew power series rings of derivation type, J. Algebra Appl. 10 (6) (2011) 1383–1399.
- [4] Jeffrey Bergen, Piotr Grzeszczuk, Skew derivations and the nil and prime radicals, Colloq. Math. 128 (2012) 229–236.
- [5] G. Cauchon, J.C. Robson, Endomorphisms, derivations, and polynomial rings, J. Algebra 53 (1978) 227–238.
- [6] J.D. Dixon, M.P.F. du Sautoy, A. Mann, D. Segal, Analytic Pro-p Groups, Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- [7] A.W. Goldie, G. Michler, Ore extensions and polycyclic group rings, J. Lond. Math. Soc. 9 (1974) 337–345.
- [8] K.R. Goodearl, Prime ideals in skew polynomial rings and quantized Weyl algebras, J. Algebra 150 (1992) 324–377.
- [9] K.R. Goodearl, E.S. Letzter, Prime Ideals in Skew and q-Skew Polynomial Rings, In Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, vol. no. 521 (1), volume 109, American Mathematical Society, May 1994.
- [10] Huishi Li, Lifting Ore sets of Noetherian filtered rings and applications, J. Algebra 179 (1996) 686–703.
- [11] Huishi Li, Freddy van Oystaeyen, Zariskian Filtrations, Springer Science+Business Media, 1996.
- [12] Ronald S. Irving, Prime ideals of Ore extensions over commutative rings, J. Algebra 56 (1979) 315–342.
- [13] Ronald S. Irving, Prime ideals of Ore extensions over commutative rings, II, J. Algebra 58 (1979) 399–423.
- [14] A. Jones, Completed group algebras of abelian-by-procyclic groups, Adv. Math. 354 (2019).
- [15] Tsit-Yuen Lam, A First Course in Noncommutative Rings, Springer, 1991.
- [16] Edward S. Letzter, Prime ideals of noetherian skew power series rings, Isr. J. Math. 192 (2012) 67-81.
- [17] J.C. McConnell, J.C. Robson, Noncommutative Noetherian Rings, American Mathematical Society, 2001.
- [18] Donald S. Passman, Infinite Crossed Products, Academic Press Inc., 1989.
- [19] J.E. Roseblade, Prime ideals in group rings of polycyclic groups, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 36 (1978) 385-447.
- [20] Peter Schneider, Otmar Venjakob, Localisations and completions of skew power series rings, Am. J. Math. 132 (1) (2010) 1–36.
- [21] Otmar Venjakob, A noncommutative Weierstrass preparation theorem and applications to Iwasawa theory, J. Reine Angew. Math. 559 (2003) 153–191.
- [22] William Woods, Dimension theory in iterated local skew power series rings, Algebr. Represent. Theory 26 (2023) 1583–1608.